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Praise for Masters of the Air

“Donald L. Miller’s Masters of the Air is a stunning achievement. The compound effect of the book’s narrative vitality and attention to human detail is terrific in all the meanings of the word—terrifying, extraordinary, highly admirable. What a story it is!”

—David McCullough

“[A] searching, thoroughly engrossing history of the American air war against Nazi Germany. . . . vividly recreates the day-to-day life of the men who flew the missions and their comrades on the ground. . . . unflinchingly describes the devastation wrought by the civilian bombing campaign and tackles the moral issues head-on. . . . Mr. Miller has a fluid way of moving from discussion of theory and tactics to the personal stories that give them human weight.”

—William Grimes, The New York Times

“Over the first years of World War II, the only American casualties on European soil were flyboys shot out of the sky. Long before Normandy, America’s bomber boys waged the Allies’ longest WWII campaign and brought the war to Hitler. Now we are fortunate that the incomparable Donald Miller has brought the memory of these Masters of the Air back to us.”

—James Bradley, author of Flags of Our Fathers and Flyboys

“Miller’s work is always extraordinary but this large volume is especially remarkable for its valuable recovery of details, like all the psychiatric ruin of the many bomber boys assigned to kill German civilians. This is a rare account of the American Eighth Air Force, and with so many readers hoodwinked by fantasies of The Good War, it deserves wide acceptance and ultimate enshrinement as a classic.”

—Paul Fussell, author of The Great War and Modern Memory

“Absorbing and exhaustive. . . . Miller leaves no doubt as to the contribution of the Eighth Air Force to defeating the Germans and helping end what could have been a much longer war.”

—Stephen J. Lyons, Chicago Tribune

“Masters of the Air sucks the wind out of the reader. . . . It is a piece of history that accurately and comprehensively tells the story of the Eighth Air Force going mano a mano against a tough and determined foe. The incredible cost to both sides is recounted in riveting detail. It left me shaken.”

—Lt. Gen. Bernard E. Trainor, USMC (Ret.) and coauthor of Cobra II: The Inside Story of the Invasion and Occupation of Iraq

“For sixty years we have waited for a history to equal the epic saga of the Eighth Air Force’s struggle with fighters, flak and weather on a battlefield moving at three miles per minute five miles above the earth’s crust. Now it is here. With brilliant artistry, Don Miller paints the story from the palette of the voices of the men who manned the planes or waited them out.”

—Richard B. Frank, author of Downfall: The End of the Imperial Japanese Empire

“Miller’s book works on many levels: strategic critique, operational analysis and testimonial to the brave ‘bomber boys’ who brought war home to Germany at a time when no other American force could. Masters of the Air is a terrific read, and I hereby designate it ‘Book of the Year.’ ”

—Robert Citino, World War II Magazine

“A superlative chronicle. . . . a wonderful history. . . . Awesomely researched and written.”

—Library Journal

“Masters of the Air is masterful narrative history, the elegantly interwoven story of the men and boys who first took the war to the heart of Germany. Vivid and meticulous, judicious but not judgmental, Donald L. Miller chronicles the air war over Europe in all its heroism and horror.”

—Geoffrey C. Ward, author of Unforgivable Blackness: The Rise and Fall of Jack Johnson

“A first-rate one-volume treatment of a vast subject, and one that’s sure to satisfy.”

—Bruce Heydt, America in WWII Magazine

“When I learned that Don Miller had written a history of the air war against Germany, I knew that readers would be transported as virtual eyewitnesses to this aerial battlefield. His gripping reconstruction of what was happening in the planes is matched by the best account yet of what the bombings were doing to Germans on the ground. This book bears the Miller trademark: a strong narrative supported by solid history.”

—Joseph E. Persico, author of Eleventh Month, Eleventh Day, Eleventh Hour: Armistice Day 1918

“Miller’s massive, readable volume may prove to be the standard history of the Eighth Air Force.”

—Booklist

“Absorbing and comprehensive. . . . Masters of the Air covers a lot of ground, both figuratively and literally. . . . Miller and his research assistants have read through a vast amount of the specialist literature as well as a lot of primary sources, and they have conducted numerous interviews with veterans. . . . [Miller] is admirably sane and clear about what the air war cost, on all sides, and also about what it achieved.”

—Fredric Smoler, American Heritage

“Masters of the Air is a fresh new account of the incredible rise of the American air force from young men learning their trade on the job in combat to an irresistible force that swept the vaunted Luftwaffe from the skies. Author Donald L. Miller knits together the big events of the bombing campaign with illuminating individual human stories of the heroes who lived and died over Germany.”

—Walter J. Boyne, former director, National Air and Space Museum

“Masters of the Air is a direct hit.”

—Allan R. Millett, Director, Eisenhower Center for American Studies, University of New Orleans
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To the gang at the Black Cat Bar: Alyssa, Alexis, Ashlee, Devin, Austin, and Mason


In the spring of 1944 . . . we were masters in the air. The bitterness of the struggle had thrown a greater strain on the Luftwaffe than it was able to bear. . . . For our air superiority, which by the end of 1944 was to become air supremacy, full tribute must be paid to the United States Eighth Air Force.

WINSTON CHURCHILL, Closing the Ring

There was a consciousness always of the presence of his comrades about him. He felt the subtle battle brotherhood more potent even than the cause for which they were fighting. It was a mysterious fraternity born of the smoke and danger of death.

STEPHEN CRANE, The Red Badge of Courage



[image: Images]



[image: Images]




PROLOGUE




The Bloody Hundredth

The Eighth Air Force was one of the great fighting forces in the history of warfare. It had the best equipment and the best men, all but a handful of whom were civilian Americans, educated and willing to fight for their country and a cause they understood was in danger—freedom. It’s what made World War II special.

ANDY ROONEY, My War

London, October 9, 1943

Maj. John Egan’s private war began at breakfast in a London hotel. Egan was on a two-day leave from Thorpe Abbotts, an American bomber base some ninety miles north of London and a short stroll from the Norfolk hamlet that gave it its name. Station #139, as it was officially designated, with its 3,500 fliers and support personnel, was built on a nobleman’s estate lands, and the crews flew to war over furrowed fields worked by Sir Rupert Mann’s tenant farmers, who lived nearby in crumbling stone cottages heated by open hearths.

Thorpe Abbotts is in East Anglia, a history-haunted region of ancient farms, curving rivers, and low flat marshland. It stretches northward from the spires of Cambridge, to the high-sitting cathedral town of Norwich, and eastward to Great Yarmouth, an industrial port on the black waters of the North Sea. With its drainage ditches, wooden windmills, and sweeping fens, this low-lying slice of England brings to mind nearby Holland, just across the water.

It is a haunch of land that sticks out into the sea, pointed, in the war years, like a raised hatchet at the enemy. And its drained fields made good airbases from which to strike deep into the German Reich. A century or so behind London in its pace and personality, it had been transformed by the war into one of the great battlefronts of the world, a war front unlike any other in history.

This was an air front. From recently built bases in East Anglia, a new kind of warfare was being waged—high-altitude strategic bombing. It was a singular event in the history of warfare, unprecedented and never to be repeated. The technology needed to fight a prolonged, full-scale bomber war was not available until the early 1940s and, by the closing days of that first-ever bomber war, was already being rendered obsolete by jet engine aircraft, rocket-powered missiles, and atomic bombs. In the thin, freezing air over northwestern Europe, airmen bled and died in an environment that no warriors had ever experienced. It was air war fought not at 12,000 feet, as in World War I, but at altitudes two and three times that, up near the stratosphere where the elements were even more dangerous than the enemy. In this brilliantly blue battlefield, the cold killed, the air was unbreathable, and the sun exposed bombers to swift violence from German fighter planes and ground guns. This endless, unfamiliar killing space added a new dimension to the ordeal of combat, causing many emotional and physical problems that fighting men experienced for the first time ever.

For most airmen, flying was as strange as fighting. Before enlisting, thousands of American fliers had never set foot in an airplane or fired a shot at anything more threatening than a squirrel. A new type of warfare, it gave birth to a new type of medicine—air medicine. Its pioneering psychiatrists and surgeons worked in hospitals and clinics not far from the bomber bases, places where men were sent when frostbite mauled their faces and fingers or when trauma and terror brought them down.

Bomber warfare was intermittent warfare. Bouts of inactivity and boredom were followed by short bursts of fury and fear; and men returned from sky fights to clean sheets, hot food, and adoring English girls. In this incredible war, a boy of nineteen or twenty could be fighting for his life over Berlin at eleven o’clock in the morning and be at a London hotel with the date of his dreams at nine that evening. Some infantrymen envied the airmen’s comforts, but as a character in an American navigator’s novel asks, “How many infantry guys do you think would be heading for the front lines if you gave them a plane with full gas tanks?” Sold to the American public as a quicker, more decisive way of winning than slogging it out on the ground, the air war became a slow, brutal battle of attrition.

John Egan was commander of a squadron of B-17 Flying Fortresses, one of the most fearsome killing machines in the world at that time. He was a bomber boy; destruction was his occupation. And like most other bomber crewmen, he went about his work without a quiver of conscience, convinced he was fighting for a noble cause. He also killed in order not to be killed.

Egan had been flying combat missions for five months in the most dangerous air theater of the war, the “Big Leagues,” the men called it; and this was his first extended leave from the fight—although it hardly felt like a reprieve. That night, the German air force, the Luftwaffe, plastered the city, setting off fires all around his hotel. It was his first time under the bombs and he found it impossible to sleep, with the screaming sirens and the thundering concussions.

Egan was attached to the Eighth Air Force, a bomber command formed at Savannah Army Air Base in Georgia in the month after Pearl Harbor to deliver America’s first blow against the Nazi homeland. From its unpromising beginnings, it was fast becoming one of the greatest striking forces in history. Egan had arrived in England in the spring of 1943, a year after the first men and machines of the Eighth had begun occupying bases handed over to them by the RAF—the Royal Air Force—whose bombers had been hammering German cities since 1940. Each numbered Bombardment Group (BG)—his was the 100th—was made up of four squadrons of eight to twelve four-engine bombers, called “heavies,” and occupied its own air station, either in East Anglia or the Midlands, directly north of London, around the town of Bedford.1

For a time in 1943, the Eighth was assigned four Bomb Groups equipped with twin-engine B-26 Marauders, which were used primarily for low- and medium-level bombing, with mixed results. But in October of that year, these small Marauder units were transferred to another British-based American air command—the Ninth Air Force, which was being built up to provide close air support for the cross-Channel invasion of Nazi-occupied Europe. From this point until the end of the war, all Eighth Air Force bombers were either Fortresses or B-24 Liberators, the only American bombers designed for long-range, high-altitude strikes. But the Eighth did retain its own Fighter Command to provide escort aircraft for its bombers on shallow-penetration missions into Northern Europe. Its pilots flew single-engine P-47 Thunderbolts and twin-engine P-38 Lightnings, and operated from bases located in the vicinity of the bomber stations.

When the 100th Bomb Group flew into combat, it was usually accompanied by two other bomb groups from nearby bases, the 390th and the 95th, the three groups forming the 13th Combat Wing. A combat wing was one small part of a formation of many hundreds of bombers and fighter escorts that shook the earth under the English villagers who spilled out of their cottages at dawn to watch the Americans head out “to hit the Hun.”

“No one . . . could fail to thrill at the sight of the great phalanxes streaming away from their East Anglian airfields,” wrote the historian John Keegan, a boy growing up in England during the war. “Squadron after squadron, they rose to circle into groups and wings and then set off southeastward for the sea passage to their targets, a shimmering and winking constellation of aerial grace and military power, trailing a cirrus of pure white condensation from 600 wing tips against the deep blue of English summer skies. Three thousand of America’s best and brightest airmen were cast aloft by each mission, ten to a ‘ship,’ every ship with a characteristic nickname, often based on a song title, like My Prayer; or a line from a film, like ‘I am Tondelayo.’ ”

On the flight to the coast, “we turned on the BBC to listen to all the sentimental songs of the day,” recalled co-pilot Bernard R. Jacobs of Napa, California. Passing over the eternally green English countryside, it seemed strange to Jacobs that such a tranquil-looking land was the staging area for a campaign of unimaginable slaughter, destruction such as the world had never seen.

Although President Franklin D. Roosevelt had recently ended all voluntary enlistments, the Eighth Air Force was still an elite outfit, made up almost entirely of volunteers, men who had signed up before the president’s order or highly qualified men who were snapped up by Air Force recruiters after they were drafted by the Army but before they were given a specific assignment. Eighth Air Force bomber crews were made up of men from every part of America and nearly every station in life. There were Harvard history majors and West Virginia coal miners, Wall Street lawyers and Oklahoma cow punchers, Hollywood idols and football heroes. The actor Jimmy Stewart was a bomber boy and so was the “King of Hollywood,” Clark Gable. Both served beside men and boys who had washed office windows in Manhattan or loaded coal cars in Pennsylvania—Poles and Italians, Swedes and Germans, Greeks and Lithuanians, Native Americans and Spanish-Americans, but not African-Americans, for official Air Force policy prevented blacks from flying in combat units of the Eighth Air Force. In the claustrophobic compartments of the heavy bombers, in the crucible of combat, Catholics and Jews, Englishmen and Irishmen, became brothers in spirit, melded together by a desire not to die. In bomber warfare, the ability to survive, and to fight off fear, depended as much on the character of the crew as on the personality of the individual. “Perhaps at no time in the history of warfare,” wrote Starr Smith, former Eighth Air Force intelligence officer, “has there been such a relationship among fighting men as existed with the combat crews of heavy bombardment aircraft.”

The Eighth Air Force had arrived in England at the lowest moment of the war for the nations aligned against the Axis Powers: Germany, Italy, Japan, and their allies. The Far Eastern and Pacific empires of the English, the Dutch, and the French had recently fallen to the Japanese, as had the American-occupied Philippines. By May 1942, when Maj. Gen. Carl A. “Tooey” Spaatz arrived in London to take command of American air operations in Europe, Japan controlled a far-reaching territorial empire. The Royal Air Force’s fighter boys had won the Battle of Britain the previous summer, and England had stood up to the Blitz, the first long-term bombing campaign of the war, but since the evacuation of the British army at Dunkirk in May 1940, and the fall of France soon thereafter, Germany had been the absolute master of Western Europe. In the spring of 1942, Great Britain stood alone and vulnerable, the last surviving European democracy at war with the Nazis. And the question became, How to hit back at the enemy?

“We have no Continental Army which can defeat the German military power,” Prime Minister Winston Churchill declared. “But there is one thing that will bring him . . . down, and that is an absolutely devastating, exterminating attack by very heavy bombers from this country upon the Nazi homeland.” Beginning in 1940, the RAF’s Bomber Command went after industrial targets in the Rhineland and the Ruhr, centers of Nazi material might. The first RAF raids of the war had been flown in daylight, but after taking murderous losses, the RAF was forced to bomb at night and to alter its targeting. Since industrial plants could not be sighted, let alone hit, on moonless nights, the RAF began bombing entire cities—city busting, the crews correctly called it. The purpose was to set annihilating fires that killed thousands and that would break German civilian morale. The bombing was wildly inaccurate and crew losses were appalling. But killing Germans was wonderful for British morale—payback for the bombing of Coventry and London, and England had no other way to directly hurt Germany. Until Allied armies entered Germany in the final months of the war, strategic bombing would be the only battle fought inside the Nazi homeland.

The Eighth Air Force had been sent to England to join this ever accelerating bombing campaign, which would be the longest battle of World War II. It had begun combat operations in August 1942, in support of the British effort but with a different plan and purpose. The key to it was the top secret Norden bombsight, developed by Navy scientists in the early 1930s. Pilots like Johnny Egan had tested it in the high, sparkling skies of the American West and put their bombs on sand targets with spectacular accuracy, some bombardiers claiming they could place a single bomb in a pickle barrel from 20,000 feet. The Norden bombsight would make high-altitude bombing both more effective and more humane, Air Force leaders insisted. Cities could now be hit with surgical precision, their munitions mills destroyed with minimal damage to civilian lives and property.

The Eighth Air Force was the proving instrument of “pickle-barrel” bombing. With death-dealing machines like the Flying Fortress and the equally formidable Consolidated B-24 Liberator, the war could be won, the theorists of bomber warfare argued, without a World War I–style massacre on the ground or great loss of life in the air. This untested idea appealed to an American public that was wary of long wars, but less aware that combat always confounds theory.

Daylight strategic bombing could be done by bombers alone, without fighter planes to shield them. This was the unshakable conviction of Brig. Gen. Ira C. Eaker, the former fighter pilot that Carl Spaatz had picked to head the Eighth Air Force’s bomber operations. Flying in tight formations—forming self-defending “combat boxes”—the bombers, Eaker believed, would have the massed firepower to muscle their way to the target.

Johnny Egan believed in strategic bombing, but he didn’t believe this. He had entered the air war when Ira Eaker began sending his bomber fleets deep into Germany, without fighter escorts, for at that time no single-engine plane had the range to accompany the heavies all the way to these distant targets and back. In the summer of 1943, Johnny Egan lost a lot of friends to the Luftwaffe.

•  •  •

There were ten men in the crew of an Eighth Air Force heavy bomber. The pilot and his co-pilot sat in the cockpit, side by side; the navigator and bombardier were just below, in the plane’s transparent Plexiglas nose; and directly behind the pilot was the flight engineer, who doubled as the top turret gunner. Further back in the plane, in a separate compartment, was the radio operator, who manned a top-side machine gun; and at mid-ship there were two waist gunners and a ball turret gunner, who sat in a revolving Plexiglas bubble that hung—fearfully vulnerable—from the underside of the fuselage. In an isolated compartment in the back of the plane was the tail gunner, perched on an oversized bicycle seat. Every position in the plane was vulnerable; there were no foxholes in the sky. Along with German and American submarine crews and the Luftwaffe pilots they met in combat, American and British bomber boys had the most dangerous job in the war. In October 1943, fewer than one out of four Eighth Air Force crew members could expect to complete his tour of duty: twenty-five combat missions. The statistics were discomforting. Two-thirds of the men could expect to die in combat or be captured by the enemy. And 17 percent would either be wounded seriously, suffer a disabling mental breakdown, or die in a violent air accident over English soil. Only 14 percent of fliers assigned to Major Egan’s Bomb Group when it arrived in England in May 1943 made it to their twenty-fifth mission. By the end of the war, the Eighth Air Force would have more fatal casualties—26,000—than the entire United States Marine Corps. Seventy-seven percent of the Americans who flew against the Reich before D-Day would wind up as casualties.

As commander of the Hundredth’s 418th Squadron, Johnny Egan flew with his men on all the tough missions. When his boys went into danger, he wanted to face it with them. “Anyone who flies operationally is crazy,” Egan confided to Sgt. Saul Levitt, a radioman in his squadron who was later injured in a base accident and transferred to the staff of Yank magazine, an army publication. “And then,” says Levitt, “he proceeded to be crazy and fly operationally. And no milk runs. . . .

When his “boy-men,” as Egan called them, went down in flaming planes, he wrote home to their wives and mothers. “These were not file letters,” Levitt remembered. “It was the Major’s idea they should be written in long-hand to indicate a personal touch, and there are no copies of these letters. He never said anything much about that. The letters were between him and the families involved.”

Major Egan was short and skinny as a stick, barely 140 pounds, with thick black hair, combed into a pompadour, black eyes, and a pencil-thin mustache. His trademarks were a white fleece-lined flying jacket and an idiomatic manner of speaking, a street-wise style borrowed from writer Damon Runyon. At twenty-seven, he was one of the “ancients” of the outfit, but “I can out-drink any of you children,” he would tease the fresh-faced members of his squadron. On nights that he wasn’t scheduled to fly the next day, he would jump into a jeep and head for his “local,” where he’d gather at the bar with a gang of Irish laborers and sing ballads until the taps ran dry or the tired publican tossed them out.

When Egan was carousing, his best friend was usually in the sack. Major Gale W. Cleven’s pleasures were simple. He liked ice cream, cantaloupe, and English war movies; and he was loyal to a girl back home named Marge. He lived to fly and, with Egan, was one of the “House of Lords of flying men.” His boyhood friends had called him “Cleve,” but Egan, his inseparable pal since their days together in flight training in the States, renamed him “Buck” because he looked like a kid named Buck that Egan knew back in Manitowoc, Wisconsin. The name stuck. “I never liked it, but I’ve been Buck ever since,” Cleven said sixty years later, after he earned an MBA from Harvard Business School and a Ph.D. in interplanetary physics.

Lean, stoop-shouldered Gale Cleven grew up in the hardscrabble oil country north of Casper, Wyoming, and worked his way through the University of Wyoming as a roughneck on a drilling crew. With his officer’s cap cocked on the side of his head and a toothpick dangling from his mouth, he looked like a tough guy, but “he had a heart as big as Texas and was all for his men,” one of his fliers described him. He was extravagantly alive and was easily the best storyteller on the base.

A squadron commander at age twenty-four, he became a home-front hero when he was featured in a Saturday Evening Post story of the Regensburg Raid by Lt. Col. Beirne Lay, Jr., later the co-author, with Sy Bartlett, of Twelve O’Clock High!, the finest novel and movie to come out of the European air war. The Regensburg-Schweinfurt mission of August 17, 1943, was the biggest, most disastrous American air operation up to that time. Sixty bombers and nearly 600 men were lost. It was a “double strike” against the aircraft factories of Regensburg and the ball bearing plants of Schweinfurt, both industrial powerhouses protected by one of the most formidable aerial defense systems in the world. Beirne Lay was flying with the Hundredth that day as an observer in a Fortress called Piccadilly Lilly, and in the fire and chaos of battle he saw Cleven, in the vulnerable low squadron—the so-called Coffin Corner, the last and lowest group in the bomber stream—“living through his finest hour.” With his plane being shredded by enemy fighters, Cleven’s co-pilot panicked and prepared to bail out. “Confronted with structure damage, partial loss of control, fire in the air and serious injuries to personnel, and faced with fresh waves of fighters still rising to the attack, [Cleven] was justified in abandoning ship,” Lay wrote. But he ordered his co-pilot to stay put. “His words were heard over the interphone and had a magical effect on the crew. They stuck to their guns. The B-17 kept on.”

Beirne Lay recommended Cleven for the Medal of Honor. “I didn’t get it and I didn’t deserve it,” Cleven said. He did receive the Distinguished Service Cross but never went to London to pick it up. “Medal, hell, I needed an aspirin,” he commented long afterward. “So I remain undecorated.”

The story of Cleven on the Regensburg raid “electrified the base,” recalled Harry H. Crosby, a navigator in Egan’s 418th Squadron. Johnny Egan had also fought well that day. Asked how he survived, he quipped, “I carried two rosaries, two good luck medals, and a $2 bill off of which I had chewed a corner for each of my missions. I also wore my sweater backwards and my good luck jacket.” Others were not so fortunate. The Hundredth lost ninety men.

Casualties piled up at an alarming rate that summer, too fast for the men to keep track of them. One replacement crewman arrived at Thorpe Abbotts in time for a late meal, went to bed in his new bunk, and was lost the next morning over Germany. No one got his name. He was thereafter known as “the man who came to dinner.”

With so many of their friends dying, the men of the Hundredth badly needed heroes. At the officers club, young fliers gathered around Cleven and Egan and “watched the two fly missions with their hands,” Crosby wrote in his memoir of the air war. “Enlisted men adored them,” and pilots wanted to fly the way they did. With their dashing white scarves and crushed “fifty-mission caps,” they were characters right out of I Wanted Wings, another Beirne Lay book, and the Hollywood film based on it, which inspired thousands of young men to join the Army Air Corps. They even talked like Hollywood. The first time Crosby set eyes on Cleven was at the officers club. “For some reason he wanted to talk to me, and he said, ‘Taxi over here Lootenant.’ ”

Cleven liked the young replacements but worried about their untested bravado. “Their fear wasn’t as great as ours, and therefore was more dangerous. They feared the unknown. We feared the known.”

•  •  •

On the morning of October 8, 1943, an hour of so before Johnny Egan stepped on the train that brought him to London on his first leave from Thorpe Abbotts, Buck Cleven took off for Bremen and didn’t return. Three Luftwaffe fighters flew out of the sun and tore into his Fortress, knocking out three engines, blowing holes in the tail and nose, sheering off a good part of the left wing, and setting the cockpit on fire. The situation hopeless, Cleven ordered the crew to jump. He was the last man out of the plane. When he jumped, the bomber was only about 2,000 feet from the ground.

This was at 3:15 P.M., about the time Johnny Egan would have been checking into his London hotel. Hanging from his parachute, Cleven saw he was going to land near a small farmhouse “and faster than I wanted to.” Swinging in his chute to avoid the house, he spun out of control and went flying through the open back door and into the kitchen, knocking over furniture and a small iron stove. The farmer’s wife and daughter began screaming hysterically, and in a flash, the farmer had a pitchfork pressed against Cleven’s chest. “In my pitiful high school German, I tried to convince him I was a good guy. He wasn’t buying it.”

That night, some of the men in Cleven’s squadron who had survived the Bremen mission walked to a village pub and got extravagantly drunk. “None of them could believe he was gone,” said Sgt. Jack Sheridan, another member of Cleven’s squadron. If Cleven “the invincible” couldn’t make it, who could? But as Sheridan noted, “missing men don’t stop a war.”

The next morning, over a hotel breakfast of fried eggs and a double Scotch, Johnny Egan read the headlines in the London Times, “Eighth Air Force Loses 30 Fortresses Over Bremen.” He sprang out of his chair and rushed to a phone to call the base. With wartime security tight, the conversation was in code. “How did the game go,” he asked. Cleven had gone down swinging, he was told. Silence. Pulling himself together, Egan asked, “Does the team have a game scheduled for tomorrow?”

“Yes,” came the reply.

“I want to pitch.”

He was back at Thorpe Abbotts that afternoon in time to “sweat out” a long mission the group flew to Marienburg, a combat strike led by the Hundredth’s Commander, Col. Neil B. “Chick” Harding, a former West Point football hero. As soon as the squadrons returned, Egan got Harding’s permission to lead the Hundredth’s formation on the next day’s mission. At dawn, he went to one of the crew huts and woke up pilot John D. Brady, a former saxophone player in one of the country’s big bands. Harry Crosby, whose bed was directly across from Captain Brady’s, overheard the conversation. “John, I am flying with you. . . . We are going to get the bastards that got Buck.” Then the two men left for the pre-flight briefing.

“The target for today is Munster,” the intelligence officer, Maj. Miner Shaw, informed the sleepy crews as he pulled back the curtain that covered a wall-size map of Northern Europe. A red string of yarn stretched from Thorpe Abbotts across the Netherlands to a small railroad juncture just over the Dutch border. It would be a short raid, and P-47 Thunderbolts—the best Allied fighter planes available—would escort the bombers to the limit of their range, nearly all the way to the target. It looked routine—except for one thing. The Aiming Point was the heart of the old walled city, a marshaling yard, and an adjacent neighborhood of workers’ homes. Nearby, was a magnificent cathedral whose bishop was known to be a strident opponent of the Nazis. “Practically all of the railroad workers in the [Ruhr] valley [are] billeted in Munster,” Shaw droned on in a low monotone. If the bombardiers hit their target accurately, the entire German rail system in this heavily trafficked area would, he said, be seriously disrupted.

This was a radical change in American bombing practice. Later, the Eighth Air Force would officially deny it, but the Münster raid was a city-busting operation. Declassified mission reports and flight records clearly list the “center of town” as the Aiming Point; one report, that of the 94th Bomb Group, describes the Aiming Point as, “Built up section of North East tip of Marshalling yards.”

When Shaw announced that “we were going to sock a residential district. . . . I find [sic] myself on my feet, cheering,” Egan said later. “Others, who had lost close friends in [previous] . . . raids joined in the cheering ’cause here is a chance to kill Germans, the spawners of race hatred and minority oppression. It was a dream mission to avenge the death of a buddy.”

Some of the fliers who were in the briefing room that morning do not recall any cheering. One of them, Capt. Frank Murphy, was at the time a twenty-two-year-old jazz musician from Atlanta, Georgia, who had left Emory University to become an Air Force navigator. Murphy has no recollection of Egan jumping up and swearing revenge, but he does say that no one in the room openly protested the targeting of civilians, not even those like himself who had relatives born in Germany. Perhaps some of the men remembered the warning that their first commander, Col. Darr H. “Pappy” Alkire, had given them back in the States, right after they completed flight training and received their wings. “Don’t get the notion that your job is going to be glorious or glamorous. You’ve got dirty work to do, and you might as well face the facts. You’re going to be baby-killers and women-killers.”

Not everybody in the Hundredth saw himself in the murder business, but most of the men trusted their leaders. “I felt I was there to help win the war, if possible,” said Lt. Howard “Hambone” Hamilton, Captain Brady’s bombardier. “The basic problem in trying to bomb a railway system is that, if sufficient labor is available, railroad tracks can be repaired in a short time. We were told that the idea of bombing these railroad worker’s homes was to deprive the Germans of the people to do the repair work.”

But at briefings that same morning at neighboring bomber bases, there was some grumbling about the target selection. “It was a Sunday, and many crewmen . . . had deep reservations about bombing anywhere near churches,” recalled Lt. Robert Sabel, a pilot with the 390th Bomb Group. Capt. Ellis Scripture, a navigator who would be flying in the 95th Bomb Group’s lead Fortress, The Zootsuiters, later described his reaction. “I’d been raised in a strict Protestant home. My parents were God-oriented people. . . . I was shocked to learn that we were to bomb civilians as our primary target for the first time in the war.” Ellis Scripture went to his group commander after the briefing and told him he didn’t want to fly that day. Col. John Gerhart exploded: “Look Captain, this [is] war, spelled W-A-R. We’re in an all-out fight; the Germans have been killing innocent people all over Europe for years. We’re here to beat the hell out of them . . . and we’re going to do it. . . . Now—I’m leading this mission and you’re my navigator. . . . If you don’t fly, I’ll have to court-martial you. Any questions?”

Scripture said “no sir” and headed for the flight line. “I made up my mind there and then that war isn’t a gentleman’s duel,” he said later. “I never again had any doubts about the strategy of our leaders. They had tough decisions to make—and they made them.”

Another flier from Scripture’s bomb group, Lt. Theodore Bozarth, described most accurately how most of the men in the 13th Combat Wing felt about this mission. It would be the wing’s third mission in three days: Bremen, Marienburg, and now Münster. “We were just too tired to care much one way or the other.”

Harry Crosby was not slated to fly to Münster. He and his pilot, Capt. Everett Blakely, were recovering from a spectacular crash landing on the English coast on their return from Bremen. The morning of the Münster mission they decided to commandeer a war-damaged plane and fly down to the resort town of Bournemouth for a brief seaside break from the war. Before taking off, Crosby called the base weatherman, Capt. Cliff Frye, and arranged a code for Crosby to receive a telephone report of the Münster strike.

At four that afternoon he called Frye. “Did all my friends get back from pass?”

No answer.

“Did some of them have a permanent change of station?”

“Yes, all but one.”

Then, losing his composure, Frye broke the code. “Egan’s gone. Your old crew is gone. The whole group is gone. The only one who came back was that new crew in the 418th [Squadron]. They call [their pilot] Rosie.”

•  •  •

Lt. Robert “Rosie” Rosenthal had not trained with the Hundredth’s original crews. He and his crew had been assigned to the group that August from a replacement pool in England, to fill in for men lost on the Regensburg raid. “When I arrived, the group was not well organized,” Rosenthal recalled. “They were a rowdy outfit, filled with characters. Chick Harding was a wonderful guy, but he didn’t enforce tight discipline on the ground or in the air.” Rosenthal didn’t fly a mission for thirty days. “No one came around to check me out and approve me for combat duty. Finally, my squadron commander, John Egan, had me fly a practice formation. I flew to the right of his plane. I had done a lot of formation flying in training and I was frustrated; I desperately wanted to get into the war. I put the wing of my plane right up against Egan’s, and wherever he went, I went. When we landed, Egan told me he wanted me to be his wing man.”

Rosenthal had gone to Brooklyn College, not far from his Flatbush home. An outstanding athlete, he had been captain of the football and baseball teams, and later was inducted into the college’s athletic hall of fame. After graduating summa cum laude from Brooklyn Law School, he went to work for a leading Manhattan law firm. He was just getting started in his new job when the Japanese bombed Pearl Harbor. The next morning he joined the Army Air Corps.

He was twenty-six years old, with broad shoulders, sharply cut features, and dark curly hair. A big-city boy who loved hot jazz, he walked, incongruously, with the shambling gait of a farmer, his toes turned inward—and there wasn’t an ounce of New York cynicism in him. He was shy and easily embarrassed, but he burned with determination. “I had read Mein Kampf in college and had seen the newsreels of the big Nazi rallies in Nuremberg, with Hitler riding in an open car and the crowds cheering wildly. It was the faces in the crowd that struck me, the looks of adoration. It wasn’t just Hitler. The entire nation had gone mad; it had to be stopped.

“I’m a Jew, but it wasn’t just that. Hitler was a menace to decent people everywhere. I was also tremendously proud of the English. They stood alone against the Nazis during the Battle of Britain and the Blitz. I read the papers avidly for war news and listened to Edward R. Murrow’s live radio broadcasts of the bombing of London. I couldn’t wait to get over there.

“When I finally arrived, I thought I was at the center of the world, the place where the democracies were gathering to defeat the Nazis. I was right where I wanted to be.”

Rosie Rosenthal didn’t share these thoughts with his crewmates, simple guys who distrusted what they called deep thinking. They never learned what was inside him, what made him fly and fight with blazing resolve. Later in the war, when he became one of the most decorated and famous fliers in the Eighth, word spread around Thorpe Abbotts that his family was in a German concentration camp. But when someone asked him directly, he said “that was a lot of hooey.” His family—mother, sister, brother-in-law, and niece (his father had recently died)—were all back in Brooklyn. “I have no personal reasons. Everything I’ve done or hope to do is strictly because I hate persecution. . . . A human being has to look out for other human beings or else there’s no civilization.”

At the briefing for Münster, Rosie remembered the target being the city’s marshaling yard, not workers’ housing. “It was near the center of the town; innocent people would die, as they did in all wars.”

On that hazy October morning, Rosie’s plane was third on the runway, lined up with the rest of the thirty-ton destruction machines, engines thundering, ready to take off at half-minute intervals. He and his crew were flying in a new plane, Royal Flush. Their regular plane, Rosie’s Riveters, had suffered heavy battle damage on the missions to Bremen and Marienburg. The men were superstitious, apprehensive about flying in a strange bomber. Gathering them together in a huddle under one of the wings, Rosie calmed them down.

“The doors to the bomb bays close behind you, and you know that you are a prisoner of this ship,” Yank correspondent Denton Scott described the fear many airmen felt on the flight line that morning. “That imprisonment can be broken only by three factors, and they are, in order: Disaster by explosion and parachuting to another prison, death, or a safe return.”

At 11:11 A.M., the wheels of Brady’s lead plane, M’lle Zig Zig, with Major Egan in the co-pilot’s seat and Lt. John Hoerr, Brady’s co-pilot, in the jump seat, touched off the ground, and with its belly full of bombs, barely cleared the high trees at the end of the runway. It was Brady’s first time in the lead position, and he felt unprepared. Egan was uneasy as well. He had left his lucky white flying jacket behind. Buck Cleven, the friend he was revenging, never liked it because it wasn’t clean.

The fifty-three bombers of the 13th Combat Wing assembled over Great Yarmouth, the Hundredth forming behind the leading 95th, and flew southwest to join the other Combat Wings, 275 B-17s making up the bomber formation. Over the North Sea, four bombers turned back, claiming mechanical difficulties. The depleted formation would have thirty-six fewer .50 caliber machine guns. This could mean a lot in an air fight, but it didn’t seem to concern anyone. “We felt pretty easy about the trip,” recalled Lt. Douglas Gordon-Forbes, bombardier of the 390th Bomb Group’s Cabin in the Sky. “It was the first time we had fighter escort any distance into Germany, and our confidence overflowed.”

The Germans had a chain of radar stations that stretched from Norway to northern France, and they knew the Americans were coming from the time the planes began stacking up over East Anglia. As the bombers crossed the Dutch border and passed over the neatly defined towns of Westphalia, they began to run into intense antiaircraft fire, “flak,” as it was called, a contraction of Fliegerabwehrkanonen, antiaircraft artillery. Looking over at Brady, Egan saw him make the sign of the cross. Seconds later, one of their waist gunners was killed by a piece of shrapnel from a Nazi antiaircraft gun.

As the Hundredth’s formation approached the Initial Point (IP)—the place where the heavies lined up for the bomb run—Egan called out to the group that the Thunderbolts were “heading back to the barn,” having reached the limit of their range. After turning to his right to watch them dip their wings to signal good luck, Egan looked straight ahead and shouted, “Jesus Christ! Pursuits at twelve o’clock high! Looks like they’re on us!” Some 200 German fighters attacked head-on not breaking off contact until they were within a split second of colliding with the bombers.

Brady’s lead plane was hit first. Flying in the glass-enclosed nose of Aw-R-Go, directly behind M’lle Zig Zig, Frank Murphy saw “a horrendous fiery explosion” directly underneath Brady’s plane, and watched in silent horror as the wounded Fortress went into a sickening dive, trailing black smoke and fuel. “[Our bombardier] came up from the nose looking quite messy to tell us that we have to leave the formation because ‘Hambone’ Hamilton had numerous holes in him and wanted to go home,” Egan later described the scene in the stricken plane. “I assured him that we’d left the formation.”

While Brady struggled to keep his ship level so the crew would have a “platform” from which to jump, Egan supervised the “abandon ship” maneuver. As he began speaking on the interphone, the plane burst into flames. At that moment he sent John Hoerr down to help nineteen-year-old “Hambone” Hamilton make it to the forward escape hatch, in the floor of the plane. Then Egan and Brady put the bomber on automatic pilot and scrambled back to the open bomb bay. Standing on the precariously narrow catwalk that separated the two main compartments of the bomb bay, Egan looked down at the ground and shouted, “Go ahead, Brady . . . I’m the senior man on board.” But Brady wanted to be last; it was his ship and crew. “We prattled some more,” said Egan, “when the nicest spaced holes you ever did see, a row about six inches below our feet, appeared along the entire length of the bomb bay door. They were thirty caliber punctuation marks, and I say, ‘I’ll see you Brady,’ step out, count one, and pull the ripcord about the time I go by the ball turret. The chute opened without a jar and the family jewels were safe.”

Seconds later, Egan saw three German fighters break away from the bombers and zero in on him. Cannons blazing, they nicked him and filled his chute with holes; they disappeared, he said, only when they thought “I [was] very dead, not knowing that I’m Irish.” When he hit the ground, Egan spotted some enemy soldiers heading toward him. Shedding his chute and his cumbersome winter flying equipment, he disappeared into a patch of woods.

“Hambone” Hamilton landed less than a mile away, although the two men never made contact. Hamilton was lying alone on the ground, still bleeding badly. But this, he believed, was not his day to die; minutes earlier he had made a near miraculous escape from the jaws of death.

When Lieutenant Hoerr had gone to the nose of the plane to help Hamilton, he found the wounded bombardier hanging on the escape door, outside the plane, with nothing but 20,000 feet of air between his dangling feet and a ghastly end. With his punctured lung, Hamilton did not have the strength to push open the escape hatch with his hands. So he stood on it and twisted the release handle. When the door dropped open, he fell through, but the right shoulder strap of his parachute caught on the handle, and he hung outside the bomber with the inboard propeller only inches from his head.

After a tense struggle, Hoerr was able to free Hamilton from the exit door, and both men dropped to earth in their parachutes, where they were captured by German soldiers. An ambulance was called for, and Hamilton was driven into Münster. The driver’s grandson, a boy about fifteen, pointed a long hunting rifle at Hamilton’s head during the entire thirty-minute trip.

At about that time, the crew of Rosenthal’s Royal Flush was in the final minutes of what one air commander called “the single most vicious air battle of that war, or of all time.” It lasted only forty-five minutes, but almost nothing in the European war matched it in focused fury. That afternoon the Eighth Air Force confronted what Lt. Gordon-Forbes called “the greatest concentration of Nazi fighters ever hurled at an American bomber formation.”

The Luftwaffe employed new tactics and weapons. It attacked only a few bomb groups in order to maximize the number of kills and fired air-to-air missiles into the tightly massed combat boxes. The Hundredth, flying in the dangerous low position in its combat wing, took the brunt of the attack. Seconds after Brady’s plane was hit, the Hundredth’s entire formation was broken up and scattered by swarms of single-engine planes, and by rockets launched by twin-engine planes that flew parallel to the bombers, out of range of their powerful machine guns. “Red balls of fire, trailing long white plumes of smoke, came lobbing toward us, then passed swiftly in great swishes,” Douglas Gordon-Forbes described these terrifying rocket attacks. “Several narrowly missed our ship, one passing four feet under the Plexiglas nose in which I was sitting.”

Flying alone, the bombers of the Hundredth were easy prey for determined enemy pilots, some of them flying above the Westphalia homes of their families. “The German fighters came after the 100th in wave after wave,” recalled Frank Murphy. “Several times I turned my head sideways and squinted, expecting a head-on collision.” This was Murphy’s twenty-first mission, but he had never seen so many fighters at one time, not even over Regensburg. The Luftwaffe had never repulsed an Eighth Air Force strike. “I think this attack was aimed at turning us back for the first time,” Rosie Rosenthal said later.

In seven minutes the Hundredth ceased to exist as an organized fighting unit. But a few of its planes, including Murphy’s and Rosenthal’s, fought their way to the target and dropped their ordnance. The 500-pound bombs began falling in the center of the city just as the bells of the cathedral began tolling the call for afternoon vespers. “We go four miles high,” a young pilot would write, “and let them go, and haven’t the faintest idea what happens when they connect.”

The fighters broke off their attack when the bombers went into the heavy flak field directly over the target, but when the remaining planes of the Hundredth made a wide sweeping turn to their rallying point with the 95th and 390th Bomb Groups, the Luftwaffe reappeared in force. “Almost as soon as we turned there was an explosion behind me and I was knocked to the floor,” Murphy remembered. “It felt as though someone had hit me with a baseball bat and thrown a bucket of hot water on me. It was an absolutely terrifying moment. I didn’t know how badly I was hit and I wondered if I was going to die.” Lying on top of a three-inch-high bed of hot shell casings from his Browning machine gun, slipping and sliding uncontrollably, Murphy looked up and spotted co-pilot Glenn Graham, with his oxygen mask pulled off, motioning with his hand to follow him. Graham pulled the emergency release of the forward crew door in the nose of the plane, kicked it open, and jumped out. Murphy paused, looked down at the earth, which seemed “a hundred miles away,” and slowly lowered himself by his arms through the opening. “Suddenly, it [was] deathly quiet. There was no more battle noise, no guns firing, no smell of cordite, no engines straining and groaning, no intercom chatter.” Then, as the planes of the 390th Bomb Group flew into sight, directly above Murphy, the sky erupted with fire and exploding metal. The flak batteries that ringed the city opened up on the 390th and fighter planes swooped in for the kill. “I was at my gun now, and didn’t have to look for fighters,” recalled bombardier Gordon-Forbes. “They were everywhere.”

The entire sky was “a fantastic panorama of black flak bursts, burning and exploding B-17s, spinning and tumbling crazily,” said Lt. William Overstreet, co-pilot of the inaptly named Situation Normal. “It was like flying through an aerial junkyard,” observed a Fortress gunner. There were so many parachutes it looked to Gordon-Forbes like an airborne invasion. And men who had been blown out of their planes before they had time to put on their chutes were falling to the ground, tumbling and twisting in the whipping wind. “What happens to your body when you fall 25,000 feet?” a flier asked himself as he watched men he knew drop through the clouds. “Do you die on the way down, or are you conscious . . . screaming all the way down?”

Prewar strategists foresaw the bomber war as a battle of machines against machines, with little human contact. But with every Eighth Air Force mission an invasion of the Reich, downed airmen like “Hambone” Hamilton met the enemy face-to-face on his own soil before a single American infantryman crossed into Germany; and air fights often approached the grim intimacy of close-quarter fighting on the ground. At one point in the furious battle over Münster, a German fighter plane streaked past the nose section of Cabin in the Sky. “In that split second he was so close I remember sitting there staring him in the face while he stared back,” recalled Douglas Gordon-Forbes. “He looked scared too.”

•  •  •

That afternoon, fifteen-year-old Otto Schuett was attending a horse show on the outskirts of Münster. An apprentice printer, he was born in Brooklyn, New York, perhaps not far from Rosenthal’s old neighborhood. His parents had returned to Germany in 1931, moving from Lübeck to Münster in 1939, where his father became a leading figure in the Nazi Party. Shortly after the war broke out, Otto joined the Hitler Youth, proudly rising to the position of group leader.

From Münster’s Show Ground, three miles from the city center, Otto Schuett heard the bombers coming, but they were hard to spot because they blended so beautifully into the high autumn sky. “From our position, we saw smoke, in dense clouds, erupting . . . [from] the town center. . . . As the bombs dropped closer and closer . . . we suddenly realized that our lives were at stake. We all started to scatter and race for cover as the bomb explosions and anti-aircraft fire reached a crescendo. I simply sprawled face-down on the ground.”

During a lull in the bombing, Schuett ran for better cover; as he did, he saw the falling wing of a B-17, its propellers still spinning, heading straight for him. The wing crashed to the earth just ahead of him, “burning fiercely and sending up clouds of black, oily smoke. . . . I lay there in the dirt, expecting death at any minute.”

Inside the walled city, Hildegard Kosters, a fourteen-year-old schoolgirl, clung to life in an air raid shelter built under the railroad station. “The earth shook, vibrated, shuddered and heaved from the impact of the concussions. The solid concrete bunker trembled and shook to its very foundations. The railway junction and marshalling yards must have been the target.

“Suddenly all the lights went out. The people—mostly women and children—huddled together like sheep in the slaughterhouse, praying, crying and shrieking in terror. Some were mute with fear.”

“It was an inferno,” recalled a German soldier who happened to be changing trains at Münster. “All around me I could hear injured people screaming who were trapped under demolished and burning houses. Almost all of the city center had been flattened to the ground and the main railway station had been heavily damaged.”

Looking up, the soldier watched the bombers passing through the enormous smoke clouds they had created, heading back to England. Some of them, he could tell, were badly damaged.

“We had a big rocket hole through the starboard wing, two engines were out, my two waist gunners were seriously injured, and my tail gunner had also been hit,” Rosenthal later described the situation in Royal Flush. “After we left the target, we were attacked again by fighters. Our gunners could not shoot an enemy plane down unless they had a stable platform, but if I had kept the plane level and stable we would have been shot down. So I went into a series of maneuvers, every kind of evasive action. The plane was all over the sky. I guess the German pilots eventually got frustrated and decided to go for an easier target.”

The crew began barking over the interphone that the oxygen system had been shot out and that they were having trouble drawing air. Rosenthal told them to cut the chatter, that they were sinking so fast they would not need the plane’s oxygen in a few seconds. At that moment, co-pilot Winfrey “Pappy” Lewis turned around and asked the flight engineer for a report on their gas supply. He got no answer; the man’s eyeballs were floating in their sockets, a symptom of oxygen deprivation. He didn’t come around until they dropped to below 12,000 feet.

“In a situation like that you don’t think about dying,” said Rosenthal. “You focus on what you have to do to save the plane and crew. You drive everything else out of your mind. You’re frightened, but there’s a difference between fear and panic. Panic paralyzes; fear energizes. You sweat—even at 50 degrees below zero—your heart pumps, you act. Truthfully, the only fear I ever experienced in the war was the fear that I would let my crew down.

“People talk about courage, but that’s a bunch of baloney. I wasn’t courageous on the Münster mission. I had a job to do, to deliver those bombs, and I did it. After that, my only concern was the nine other men in my plane. How would I get them home?”

As suddenly as the battle began, it ended. “Directly ahead, lone white vapor trails signaled our reprieve from death,” Gordon-Forbes recalled. “Thunderbolts! The Nazis banked away, hightailing it.”

Col. Hubert “Hub” Zemke’s 56th Fighter Group—Zemke’s Wolf Pack—had taken off from their Suffolk air station in miserable weather to rendezvous with the withdrawing bombers. They and other Thunderbolt outfits fought off the German fighters, most of them low on fuel and ammunition, and then escorted their “big friends” across the North Sea. Rosenthal’s badly crippled plane was unable to keep up with the rest of the formation. It had to go it alone.

With Royal Flush flying dangerously low over the North Sea, navigator Ronald Bailey had trouble sighting the English coast through the fast-gathering evening mist, and an even more difficult time finding Thorpe Abbotts, which looked exactly like the other American bomber bases that had been built nearby. As Royal Flush approached the field through low-hanging black clouds, its crew fired red flares to signal “wounded aboard,” and nearly everyone on the base raced to the runway to watch the distressed bomber come in. Anxious eyes searched the skies for more Fortresses—hopefully all thirteen—but there was only one. After Rosie nosed his chewed-up ship into its hardstand, the concrete circular pad on which the bomber was parked, he climbed down through the bomb bay, turned to the intelligence officer, and asked: “Are they all this tough?” Then he jumped into an ambulance with his two wounded gunners and accompanied them to the base hospital. “I didn’t feel relieved,” he said years later. “I felt guilty. Why had I lived when all those other good men died?”

Air gunner Loren Darling recovered quickly, but his friend John Shaffer had to be sent home to have shrapnel removed from near his heart. Later, Rosenthal learned from the ground crews that there had been an unexploded cannon shell rolling around in one of Royal Flush’s wing tanks. A member of his crew speculated that a slave laborer, working in a Nazi munitions factory, had sabotaged the shell.

•  •  •

There were two sets of victims in the European bomber war: those who were bombed and the men who bombed them. Nearly 700 civilians were killed in Münster on October 10, 1943, most of them residents of medieval town houses in the vicinity of the marshaling yard. Münster Cathedral was only slightly damaged and two schools that took direct hits were mercifully unoccupied. When Otto Schuett returned to his neighborhood, a few hundred yards from the cathedral, only the front wall of his house was standing, and bomb-shocked survivors, including his family, were climbing out of basement shelters, carrying the dead with them. For people on the ground, it had been forty-five minutes of unrelieved terror. In those same forty-five minutes the 13th Combat Wing alone lost twenty-five of the thirty Fortresses destroyed that day, 300 boys who didn’t make it back to their bunks.2

Cold figures fail to convey the unimaginable trauma inside the bombers that went down, or inside battle-damaged planes like Royal Flush that flew out of Germany with crewmen holding the hands of butchered friends who feared they would not make it back in time for doctors to save them. There were no medics at 25,000 feet, no men wearing Red Cross brassards to rush to the aid of shot-up comrades. Fliers who knew almost nothing about first aid had to take care of each other, and themselves. Lt. Paul Vance, pilot of Miss Carry, had a leg almost severed by flak on the Münster mission. He bandaged the wound himself, using his interphone cord for a tourniquet, and then coached his co-pilot though the bomb run and the trip back to England. Lt. Robert Sabel, the 390th BG pilot who had reservations about bombing a city on Sunday, brought home Rusty Lode with over 750 flak and shell holes in her, and only two minutes of gas left in her tanks. Three of his despairing crewmen had parachuted out over Germany when the situation seemed hopeless, yet Sabel got Rusty Lode back on two engines, making a blind landing at Thorpe Abbotts, miles from his home base, with four of his crewmen lying dead in a spreading pool of blood in the radio room.

•  •  •

The evening of the Münster raid, the personal belongings of bomber boys who failed to return were hastily stuffed into bags and their bunks stripped. Within an hour, there was no sign that they had existed. Unable to sleep, Robert Rosenthal walked to the officers club. He didn’t drink, but he badly needed companionship. The place was almost empty, and the men who were there were sitting in silence, not knowing how to react. Neither did Rosie.

Later that night, Harry Crosby looked over at John Brady’s empty bunk and did some counting. Of the 140 officers who had begun operations at Thorpe Abbotts just four months before, there were only three left on flying status. In the last week alone, the Hundredth had lost over 200 men, including two squadron leaders—Cleven and Egan. That was almost half of its airmen. The group had earned its nom de guerre, “The Bloody Hundredth.” How, Crosby wondered, had he survived?

That night, Frank Murphy was asking himself the same question. His right arm was filled with small pieces of shrapnel, his ankle was throbbing from his hard fall to the ground in his parachute, but he was alive, sitting in the small holding area of a Luftwaffe fighter base with thirty or so other American airmen captured that day. The Americans were talking quietly with some of the German pilots who had shot them down. “They were fairly complimentary of us and I think we were rightfully complimentary of them.” The Germans seemed particularly interested in talking with one prisoner, Lt. John Winant, a pilot in the 390th Bomb Group and the son of the United States ambassador to Great Britain, John G. Winant, Sr.

When the Luftwaffe pilots left, the American prisoners began debating how long they were likely to be “guests” of the Germans. No one doubted that the Allies would win the war, but every flier in the room knew that the Eighth Air Force was losing the air war. They could be prisoners for up to ten years, one airman said. “My God, ten years!” Murphy cried out. “I’ll be an old man before I get home.”

The next morning, John Winant was taken to a facility for special prisoners. Murphy and the other downed airmen were driven to Münster and marched through the streets, past angry crowds that lined the sidewalks all the way to the train station the prisoners had bombed. Their destination was Dulag Luft, the Luftwaffe’s interrogation center, just outside Frankfurt. On arrival, the officers were put in solitary confinement and kept isolated from one another throughout their interrogation. So Frank Murphy had no idea that John Egan and Gale Cleven were at Dulag Luft at that time; and neither Egan nor Cleven knew the other was there.

Egan, who had evaded the Germans for a few days before being captured, was in a cramped, unheated cell not far from Cleven’s, his only companions “about a million fleas.” After nine days in solitary confinement and incessant rounds of interrogation, Cleven was released and sent with a “purge” of other prisoners to Stalag Luft III, a prison camp for American and British air force officers in German-occupied Silesia, a former region of Poland. The men traveled in vile boxcars that had been used to haul livestock, and the smell of fresh manure was overwhelming. Since the transport of prisoners was given low priority, the cars were attached to one freight train after another and were often shunted off to railroad sidings. The 300-mile trip took three days.

Stalag Luft III was in a thick pine forest just outside the small town of Sagan, about ninety miles southeast of Berlin. When Cleven arrived there on Sunday morning, October 23, there was a reunion of the Hundredth, which by the end of the war would have nearly a thousand of its fliers in German prison camps. Half of Cleven’s original squadron were prisoners at Sagan; Frank Murphy and John Brady were also there. Howard “Hambone” Hamilton, Brady’s bombardier, was in a German hospital. When he was released after a long recuperation, he was sent to another officers camp, Stalag Luft I, at Barth, on the Baltic Sea.

Three days after Cleven arrived, the camp guards announced that another group of American fliers was at the front gate. Cleven watched them file into a neighboring stockade. Spotting Johnny Egan, he called out to him, “What the hell took you so long?”

“Well, that’s what you get for being sentimental,” Egan shouted back.

At first, they were kept in separate compounds, cordoned off by barbed wire and guard towers, but four months later they were united in West Compound, where the senior American officer was their old blunt-speaking leader, Col. Darr “Pappy” Alkire. He had been stripped of the command of the Hundredth before it left for England and had recently been shot down while commanding a Liberator outfit in the Mediterranean Theater of Operations. Cleven and Egan were roommates again, as they had been in training, but were fighting a different war, a war against boredom and despair—and toward its end, in the punishing winter of 1945, a desperate fight for survival, as the entire Nazi edifice came crashing down around them.

•  •  •

“It was good to see Egan and some of the boys from my squadron,” Cleven remembered his first days at Sagan. “We had been through some tough times together. I also met some of the guys from the first American bomb groups to arrive in England. As bad as the war was going against us, these guys had suffered more. We were in training in the States when they were flying suicide missions. No one knew a thing. There had been no time; the war came on the country so quickly. There were navigators who couldn’t navigate, bombardiers who couldn’t hit their targets, gunners who couldn’t shoot straight. And their commanders had no idea how to beat the German air force or stop losing so many men.

“There weren’t many of these guys at Sagan, but then again there weren’t many of them in England in the summer before we showed up.”

One of the Eighth Air Force pioneers was Lt. Walt Kelley, a bartender’s son from Norristown, Pennsylvania. He was a pilot in the 97th Bomb Group, the first Eighth Air Force heavy bombardment group to reach England. “When we got to England, the RAF told us we would get our butts blown off if we . . . [did] daylight bombing,” he recalled. But “we were ready for action and wanted to prove ourselves in combat. . . . We were impatient for the big day to come. We didn’t have to wait long. August 17, 1942, turned out to be a beautiful sunlit day.”



1. The fliers commonly referred to their Bombardment Group as their Bomb Group, the term I have used throughout the text.

2. Although German records indicate that only 22 fighters were lost, many of them, surely, to Zemke’s Thunderbolts, Eighth Air Force gunners claimed 183 enemy fighters destroyed. The 13th Combat Wing alone was credited with 105 “victories.” Air Force leaders realized that in this battle, as in others, the claims by air gunners of German fighters destroyed were wildly optimistic. Throughout the war, measures were taken to scale down the number of claims, but they would always remain inaccurate on the high side. Some gunners may have exaggerated their success, but most believed their claims were accurate. There is the suspicion, as well, that the Luftwaffe may have suppressed evidence of large losses. No one will ever know how many German planes were lost on October 10, but reliable historians put the number between 60 and 90.



CHAPTER ONE




The Bomber Mafia

“The bomber will always get through.”

BRITISH PRIME MINISTER STANLEY BALDWIN

Grafton Underwood, August 17, 1942

The first of the dozen Fortresses to clear the runway was Butcher Shop, piloted by twenty-seven-year-old Paul W. Tibbets, Jr., of Miami, Florida. The finest flier in the 97th Bombardment Group, Major Tibbets was leading the opening assault of what would become the biggest American bombing offensive of the war. Three years later, on August 6, 1945, he would fly from a remote island in the Western Pacific to Hiroshima, Japan, and drop a single bomb that would help bring to a terrible climax a six-year-long war that destroyed the lives of sixty million people worldwide.

Eighth Air Force commander Maj. Gen. Carl “Tooey” Spaatz was on hand to watch the 97th take off, along with skeptical observers from the Royal Air Force and almost three dozen British and American reporters. “It would have been a hell of a time to blow a mission,” Tibbets said later. Tibbets was not flying his regular airplane, Red Gremlin, or with his regular crew, which included two of the men who would accompany him to Hiroshima on the Enola Gay: bombardier Thomas Ferebee and navigator Theodore “Dutch” Van Kirk. His pickup crew had been chosen by the man sitting across from him in the cockpit of Butcher Shop, Col. Frank A. Armstrong, Jr., the 97th’s iron-willed commander. Armstrong’s crushing discipline had sharpened the fighting efficiency of the hastily trained crews that had been rushed to England the previous month. After the war, his friend Lt. Col. Beirne Lay, Jr., the air commander and popular writer who would make Buck Cleven famous for his courage under fire on the Regensburg mission, used Armstrong as his model for the lead character in Twelve O’ Clock High!, Gen. Frank Savage. In the novel and in the Hollywood film based on it, Savage, played by Gregory Peck, eventually cracks under the strain of command, but Armstrong never did. The men of the 97th both feared and idolized him. They called him “Butcher” and the truculent commander turned this into a compliment, naming his plane after his reputation.

At the briefing for the mission, Armstrong had told his crews that they were beginning a daylight bombing offensive that would steadily build in strength until it shattered the enemy’s will and ability to make war. This must have struck British observers in the room as empty bravado. At the time, the Eighth had fewer than a hundred bombers in England and their entry into the war had been delayed for seven weeks until Armstrong, under mounting pressure from Washington to get Americans into the fight, had finally pronounced his crews ready. They were not, and he knew it, but they would have to go. The Luftwaffe had been dropping taunting messages on the Eighth’s two tiny aerodromes at Grafton Underwood and nearby Polebrook, asking: “Where are the American bombers?” “Now they will find out,” Armstrong had told his fliers before sending them to their planes. “Stay close together up there and right on my tail and I assure you we’ll hurt the Hun and get back safely.” No one in the room doubted him.

Butcher Shop lifted off the runway at about three-thirty in the afternoon. Right behind it, in the lead plane of the second element of six Fortresses was Yankee Doodle. Seated in the plane’s radio cabin was Brig. Gen. Ira Eaker, head of the Eighth Air Force Bomber Command. A sharp-featured Texan with a winning smile, he had set a fistful of aviation records as a fighter pilot in the peacetime Army Air Corps but had never seen combat. His old friend and poker pal Tooey Spaatz had wanted to lead this historic mission, but he had been briefed on ULTRA, the code word used to identify the highly secret intelligence produced by decrypting enemy communications, and the Allied high command thought it too risky to send him over enemy territory, especially after what had happened the previous month.

On July 4, six crews from the Eighth Air Force’s 15th Bomb Squadron, a light-bomber outfit that had been sent to England in May to train on British planes, had joined an equal number of RAF crews on a low-level sweep of heavily defended German airfields in Holland. The raid had been ordered by Lt. Gen. Henry H. “Hap” Arnold, commander of the U.S. Army Air Forces, and had the enthusiastic support of President Franklin D. Roosevelt.1 Arnold thought the Glorious Fourth would be an ideal day for America to strike its first blow against the Nazis, but Spaatz had no planes in England in the first week of July. The Independence Day crews had flown American-made Douglas A-20s that had been sold to the RAF and renamed Bostons. Two of the twelve Bostons with American crews, and one with a British crew, had failed to return, and USAAF Capt. Charles C. Kegelman had barely made it back in his badly shot-up aircraft.

Although this had technically been the Eighth’s first combat strike, it was, in Spaatz’s view, a propaganda stunt triggered by pressure exerted by the American and British press, who believed the home front in both countries needed a psychological boost. “The cameramen and newspapermen finally got what they wanted—and everybody seemed contented,” Spaatz had written sourly in his diary after pinning the Distinguished Service Cross, the nation’s second highest award for gallantry, on Kegelman.

The Tibbets mission was different and far more important. The four-engine heavies, the heart of the Eighth’s bomber force, were going out for the first time, and at high altitude. This would be the initial test of the new form of warfare that Arnold, Spaatz, and Eaker had helped to develop. Air Corps strategists had been plotting and planning for years, and practice missions had been flown in the States, but now “[our] theory that day bombardment is feasible is about to be tested when men’s lives are put at stake,” Eaker wrote Arnold before the mission.

The target was a railroad marshaling yard near Rouen, the city in northwestern France where Joan of Arc was burned at the stake. It was a “milk run,” a shallow penetration mission with fighter cover from British Spitfires going in and coming back, but Spaatz was concerned. Churchill had been pressuring Roosevelt to disband the newly established Eighth and have its bombers join the RAF in its night raids on the factory cities of the Ruhr. If the bombing was not good and Armstrong lost planes, the prime minister might get his way.

Standing with Spaatz on the observation deck of the control tower at Grafton Underwood, RAF officers looked on apprehensively. Flying in daylight on earlier strikes, their Wellington and Blenheim bombers had been shredded by German fighters. And the twenty Fortresses the Americans had sent the British the previous year had performed abysmally in combat. Spaatz, however, thought this an unfair test of a potentially war-winning weapon. For security reasons, the British Fortresses had not been equipped with the highly secret Norden bombsights, nor did they have the defensive firepower of the newest model B-17. And the British had flown them at excessively high altitudes to avoid flak, guaranteeing poor bombing accuracy and mechanical problems in the paralyzing cold above 30,000 feet. Still, the British remained unconvinced of the plane’s combat potential. As the twelve American Fortresses disappeared into the clouds above Grafton Underwood, an RAF flight lieutenant, a portly Scotsman, turned to the American officer standing next to him and said, “Laddie, ye’ll be bloody lucky if ye get one of them back!”

It was a smooth run to the big marshaling yard on the Seine, cloudless skies and no German fighters. On the return, the Fortresses ran into a few Messerschmitts, Me 109s, fast, powerfully armed single-seat fighter planes, but the Spitfires, their equals in combat, drove them off. Only one Me 109 came within range of the Forts and was nicked by a spray of machine gun fire from Birmingham Blitzkrieg. The enemy fighters “evidently had been reluctant to engage our Fortresses at close quarters,” Eaker would tell a credulous correspondent from Life magazine. “I can understand why. They had never seen our new B-17s before and the sight of big guns bristling from every angle probably gave the Nazis ample reason to be wary.”

Back at Grafton Underwood, Spaatz searched the skies for the returning planes. Any losses would be a setback, but the loss of one or both of his top commanders, Eaker and Armstrong, would be calamitous. Shortly before seven o’clock, black specks could be seen in the distance. Spaatz counted them: there were only eleven—but then a twelfth came suddenly into view. They were all back.

As the bombers swept low over the tiny, box-shaped control tower where the brass had regathered, the bombers’ freshly painted names were clearly visible on their nose sections: Baby Doll, Peggy D, Heidi Ho, Johnny Reb—great names for great planes. The high-spirited language matched the confidence of the crews, American boys too young and untested to be afraid. When the Fortresses touched down, the ground crews of the 97th rushed onto the field to greet the Rouen raiders. “Everyone was yelling, jumping like kids, slapping everybody else on the back,” recalled Air Force public relations officer William R. Laidlaw. Even the Scots RAF officer fell into the mood. “By God, what’d I tell ye!” he shouted from his perch on the tower. “No boogery Yank’ll ever miss his deener!”

When Yankee Doodle nosed onto its hardstand, Eaker slipped out of his flying clothes, lit a cigar, and went to meet the press. “One swallow does not make a summer,” he declared, but the big grin on his face told it all. He was clearly pleased with the results and happy, as well, to finally fly a combat mission. “Why, I never got such a kick out of anything in my life!” After reviewing the aerial photographs of the damage, he pronounced the bombing “exceptionally good” for untried crews. Colonel Armstrong was more exuberant. “We ruined Rouen,” he told reporters, thereby setting a standard of exaggeration that would mark official Air Force bombing reports for the remainder of the war.

Only one Fortress suffered flak damage and there were only two casualties, both of them caused by a single pigeon. It collided with the Plexiglas nose of a Fortress from a small formation of bombers sent out that same afternoon to divert German fighters from the main force. The impact shattered the Plexiglas nose, slightly injuring the navigator and the bombardier. Their surface cuts were the first blood spilled by American heavy-bomber crews in a campaign of nearly a thousand days that would result in the deaths of some 26,000 Eighth Air Force crewmen.

After their intelligence debriefing, the crews, still wearing their heavy flying clothing, met with reporters, reliving the mission “like a happy football team.” That night there was a “ ‘Saturday after the big game’ atmosphere on the base,” with the hero of the hour Staff Sergeant Kent West, the ball turret gunner of Birmingham Blitzkrieg, who was given credit for shooting down a German fighter. His claim was later changed to “damaged,” but Eaker would still send for his twin guns and mount them, like a deer’s antlers, on the wall of his headquarters at Wycombe Abbey, a converted girls school on an old estate in the town of High Wycombe, just west of London.

“It was a cakewalk,” said tavern keeper’s son Walt Kelley, who flew in Heidi Ho. “We were cocky when we took off and more so when we landed. There was lots of hoopla and queries from the press. Several planes buzzed the runway before landing.”

It would never be the same. A month later, when the Americans pushed beyond the range of the protecting Spitfires, enemy fighter pilots would begin blowing Eaker’s bombers out of the sky with alarming regularity. And some of the exuberant boys who had stood in the slop of “Grafton Undermud,” as they called their miserably drained base, toasting their first success, lay cold in their graves. Exactly a year to the day after the Rouen mission, five times as many American bombers and airmen would fall from the skies over Regensburg and Schweinfurt as had flown on that first strike from Grafton Underwood, the small airfield named after its neighbor, a Midland village of ninety-nine souls.

But in one important way, Rouen did turn out to be a harbinger. With this raid, the young men in the planes took over the burden of the American bomber war from the generals and their support staffs on the ground, the brass who picked the targets and plotted the missions. Before every raid, aircrews were exactingly briefed on the weather, on enemy defenses, and on the location of the targets, but once in the air the crews were in another world, on their own. “The most perfect plan could not succeed in the face of their failure,” said William Laidlaw.

Beginning in the early fall of 1942, American bomber crews learned to fight the air war by experience and experiment, every mission a learning exercise. It was a special kind of experience, different from that of the ground forces. Once sent into combat, bomber boys could not report back to headquarters with intelligence that might reconfigure the battle plan. The killing was too quick for that and too distant from central command. And there were no reinforcements; almost every mission was a maximum effort. The men who went in had to fight their way out. In the air the crews were alone, forced to make their own decisions if the mission’s master plan broke down, as it almost always did in the blinding chaos of combat. As Colonel Laidlaw wrote, “In a strategic air campaign, no military man—not even the most experienced air commanders with the best air staff on earth—could mark out the targets alone.” The weather, the mechanical condition of the planes, the weight of the opposition, the training and mental stability of the crews, and at least a dozen other variables determined what would be bombed and who would die, on the ground and in the air.

The infantry and Navy had centuries of accumulated experience to draw from in plotting battle strategy. Although primitive bomber aircraft had been employed by both sides in World War I, and although Japan, Germany, and Italy had used dive-bombers to terrorize cities and villages in China, Spain, and North Africa in the 1930s, no nation had ever fought a full-scale bomber war prior to World War II. As the novelist John Steinbeck wrote in 1942, “Of all branches of the Service, the Air Force must act with the least precedent, the least tradition.”

Col. Budd J. Peaslee, one of the legendary commanders of the Eighth, has argued that few great air leaders are recognized by historians because they rarely exercised command once their forces were airborne, and because a general’s decision never produced a decisive victory. In the Air Force, it was the skill and courage of small combat teams that made the difference in battle. “They had,” Peaslee wrote, “power and authority far beyond their age, rank and experience.”

•  •  •

“The attack on Rouen,” Gen. Hap Arnold announced the very next day, “verifies the soundness of our policy of precision bombing of strategic objectives rather than the mass (blitz) bombing of large, city-size areas.” He was getting ahead of himself. Daylight precision bombing would have to be proved on tougher missions, in vile weather and against determined opposition. The history of the American air war against Germany is the story of an experiment: the testing of a new idea of warfare that had been spun into dogma long before Paul Tibbets arrived in the United Kingdom. “The first bomb mission was little more than a gesture,” Budd Peaslee remarked, “yet it carried with it the hopes and dreams of two decades of American airmen.”

Command of the Air

In modern warfare there are two main types of aerial bombing—strategic and tactical. “Strategic bombing,” as defined by the Air Force, “strikes at the economy of the enemy; it attempts to cripple its war potential by blows at industrial production, civilian morale, and communications. Tactical bombardment is immediate air support of movements of air, land, or sea forces.” The Eighth Air Force would conduct both kinds of bombing, but at the start of the war its leaders hoped to commit it almost exclusively to strategic bombing.

Arnold, Eaker, and Spaatz were disciples of the late William “Billy” Mitchell, the founding father of American airpower. In 1927, when twelve-year-old Paul Tibbets made his maiden flight in an open-cockpit biplane piloted by a stuntman wearing a dashing white silk scarf and a tight-fitting leather helmet, Billy Mitchell was writing and lecturing about a terrifying, world-changing idea—bomber warfare. It was an idea that would lead to the theory of strategic bombing that Major Tibbets would first test in the skies over Rouen.

American airpower was born in World War I and Billy Mitchell was its prophet. He was the first American airman to arrive at the Western Front and fly over enemy lines, and the first of his countrymen to fully appreciate the destructive potential of bomber warfare. The son of a United States senator from Wisconsin and the grandson of a Gilded Age railroad king, Mitchell was a press agent’s dream—handsome, fearless, and flamboyant, a championship polo player who spoke flawless French and wore high cavalry boots and expensively tailored uniforms. He had quit college at age eighteen to fight in the Spanish-American War, and a decade later was writing exuberant reports urging the horse-drawn army he had served with in Cuba to develop a modern air arm. In 1916, the year he learned to fly at the late age of thirty-six, he was appointed chief of the U.S. Army Signal Corps’ tiny Aviation Section, the first American air force. Two years later, as a brigadier general, he organized and led the overseas section of the U.S. Army’s new Air Service, the larger organization that replaced the Aviation Section and was the predecessor of the even larger Army Air Corps, formed in 1926. In France, Mitchell would become a crack combat leader, audacious and innovative—and idolized by young fliers like Carl Spaatz, whom Mitchell would recommend for the Distinguished Service Cross after he downed three enemy planes. But it was as an advocate of new ideas about airpower that Mitchell would achieve his greatest fame.

His first experience in the war was the transforming event of his life. Living in the trenches with the infantry, he had an opportunity to fly over the enemy’s positions with a French pilot. “We could cross the lines of these contending armies in a few minutes in our airplane,” he wrote, “whereas the armies had been locked in the struggle, immobile, powerless to advance, for three years.” As Mitchell saw it, “the art of war had departed. Attrition, or the gradual killing off of the enemy, was all the ground armies were capable of.”

When Gen. John J. “Black Jack” Pershing arrived in France as commander of the American Expeditionary Forces, Mitchell approached him with a daring proposal: use airpower to strike the Germans behind their lines, knocking out airfields and sources of supply. Here was a way to use “the airplane for the [William Tecumseh] Sherman strategy of carrying war to the enemy’s economy and people,” wrote historian Russell F. Weigley. At first, Mitchell got nowhere with Pershing, who saw the infantry as the Queen of Battle and his pitifully small air force as a scouting and support arm of minimal military value. But in the last months of the war, when American airpower had been built up from nothing to something of consequence—750 planes, fully 10 percent of the Allied effort—Pershing allowed him to use massed Allied fighter and bomber forces to support two major infantry offenses at St. Mihiel and the Meuse-Argonne. “The air offensive which Mitchell laid on in the Meuse-Argonne in September [1918] was the greatest thing of its kind seen in the war,” Hap Arnold wrote in his memoirs. “Until then, the air fighting had been chiefly between individual pilots. . . . [This] was the first massed air striking power ever.”

Arnold only wished he could have been there to see his friend pull it off. He had desperately wanted to be in the war. A West Point graduate, he was one of the Army’s first four licensed pilots, having been taught to fly by the Wright brothers, Orville and Wilbur, at their Dayton, Ohio, flying school; and in 1912 he had won the highly prized Mackay Trophy for the outstanding military flight of the year. But as part of the Air Service’s headquarters staff, he had been considered too valuable as a war planner to send overseas. Friends called him “Hap,” short for Happy, because he had an enigmatic smile permanently fixed on his face, but that benign countenance hid a volcanic temper and a crusading desire to advance the cause of American military aviation. He was one of the first and most enthusiastic of Billy Mitchell’s supporters.

Arnold and Mitchell were both strongly influenced by Air Marshal Hugh Trenchard, the Royal Air Force’s founding father and first commander. World War I was preeminently a fighter pilot’s war, but Trenchard was a deep believer in bomber warfare, which he perceived as the future. When the Germans bombed London first with dirigibles (Zeppelins), then, in 1917, with twin-engine Gotha bombers, killing almost 1,400 people, Trenchard sent four-engine Handley Page bombers to attack Rhineland cities. In conversations with Trenchard at the front, Mitchell became convinced that America should have what the British had created after the bombing of London—an autonomous air force, equal in stature and power to the two other military services.

When the Armistice was signed on November 11, 1918, two days after the first squadron of American night bombers appeared at the front, Mitchell was laying plans for strategic assaults on the German homeland, using incendiary bombs and poison gas to destroy crops, forests, and livestock. “I was sure that if the war lasted, air power would decide it,” he wrote later.

Mitchell drew his ideas from many sources. One of them was the Italian air commander Gen. Giulio Douhet. Three years after Mitchell returned from the war, Douhet published his masterwork, The Command of the Air, a book that established him as the world’s leading proponent of airpower. Mitchell never read the book, but he may have read translated excerpts prepared by the War Department, and he corresponded with one of Douhet’s friends and countrymen, Gianni Caproni, a designer of bomber aircraft. Whatever the nature of the connection, Mitchell shared with Douhet a number of core assumptions about airpower. The experience of World War I was paramount; both sought to end long wars of attrition and close-quarter slaughter. They proposed to shorten war by returning the advantage to the offensive. Advances in the technology of killing—the machine gun, poison gas, and rifled artillery—had made infantry attacks on dug-in positions suicidal. The solution they arrived at independently was airpower—Winged Victory. Just as technology had swung the advantage to the defense, now it would favor the offense. The airplane, the greatest offensive weapon yet developed, would break the hegemony of the defense. At a time when German strategists, in reaction to the static war they had just lost, were secretly developing a new form of warfare based on quick-striking tanks and armored vehicles, Mitchell and Douhet were advancing ideas for blitzkrieg warfare from the skies.

Douhet insisted that future wars would be short, total, and “violent to a superlative degree.” They would be won from the skies with vast fleets of long-range bombers, with the winning side the one that attacked first and without cease, gaining command of the air, not primarily by destroying the enemy’s air force in combat but by destroying its airbases, communications, and centers of production. In Douhet’s words, “It is not enough to shoot down all birds in flight if you want to wipe out the species; there remain the eggs and the nests.” Destroying the eggs and the nests was strategic bombing, the only type of bombing Douhet favored.

Once command of the air was achieved by marauding bombers, not fighter planes, which, in Douhet’s view would be annihilated by new-age bombers, the main targets would be the enemy’s key industrial cities, not its armies in the field. Attacks on these vital centers would shatter civilian morale, destroy the enemy’s war-making capability, and produce a mercifully quick capitulation, without the need for either armies or navies. In the new warfare “the entire nation is or may be considered a combatant force,” Mitchell echoed Douhet. “War,” Douhet wrote, “is no longer a clash between armies, but is a clash between nations, between whole populations. Any distinction between belligerents and non-belligerents is no longer admissible . . . because when nations are at war, everyone takes a part in it: the soldier carrying his gun, the woman loading shells in a factory, the farmer growing wheat, the scientist in his laboratory.”

Douhet, a passionate fascist, put the case for total warfare in more implacable terms than Mitchell ever would. There was no place for morality in the new warfare; it would be swift slaughter without mercy or sentimentality. “The limitations applied to the so-called inhuman and atrocious means of war are nothing but international demagogic hypocrisies. . . . War,” he wrote, “has to be regarded unemotionally as a science, regardless of how terrible a science.” As a modern historian has written, “One senses [in Douhet’s work], the final and frightening abandonment by the soldier of any sense of responsibility for the political and social consequences of his military acts.”

For the first time in the history of modern armed conflict, civilians were singled out as deliberate military targets, not only because they were valuable producers, but also because they were easy to intimidate. Both Douhet and Mitchell were convinced that civilians lacked the fortitude to stand up to vertical warfare waged with high explosives, incendiaries, and poisonous gases, that generation’s equivalent, in terror-generating capacity, of atomic warfare. The evidence they had before them was the mass panic and terror in London and Cologne caused by World War I bombing attacks, air strikes far smaller than either of them envisioned in future wars. The new wars will be decided swiftly, Douhet argued, precisely because “the decisive blows will be directed at civilians, that element of the countries at war least able to sustain them.”

In one of Mitchell’s hair-raising scenarios—the bombing of New York City—deadly gases released by bombs fill the air and seep into the subways, triggering a massive evacuation of the city. When the refugees of New York and other large American cities that have been bombed are unable to obtain the essentials of life, the government is forced to capitulate.

To Douhet and Mitchell, quick wars meant reduced casualties. In becoming more terrible, warfare would actually become more humane. Better to decide a war by terrorizing the population with “a few gas bombs,” Mitchell wrote, than “the present methods of blowing people to bits by cannon projectiles or butchering them with bayonets.” Mitchell even suggested that future wars might be fought, not by large armies, but an elite cadre of aerial warriors, the modern equivalent of “the armored knights in the Middle Ages.” This, too, would save lives. And the very threat of total annihilation, he argued in anticipation of the Cold War proponents of nuclear deterrence, would prevent war from breaking out. “Air power has brought with it a new doctrine of war . . . and a new doctrine of peace.”

On this point, Douhet and Mitchell parted company. Douhet cast his arguments in dark Darwinian language. Warfare was in our blood and bones, part of our evolutionary makeup; peace was a pipe dream. Douhet advocated the “merciless pounding from the air [of] . . . very large centers of civilian population,” with the aim of destroying, not just factories and communications systems but all “social organization.”

For over a century, military theorists in the Western world had been under the spell of the Prussian writer Carl von Clausewitz, who argued that the supreme objective of warfare is the destruction of the enemy’s armed forces. Mitchell and Douhet challenged this iron dictum. A contemporary military observer has nicely encapsulated their thinking. “The history of civilized mankind shows us but three . . . revolutionary military inventions, or discoveries: discipline, gunpowder, and the airplane. . . . The airplane for the first time in the . . . history of human conflict, has given to warfare the means of striking . . . directly at the seat and source of [the enemy’s] power—at his citizenry, at his capital city, at his industrial, commercial, and political centers—without first having to overthrow the armed forces with which he seeks to protect them.”

Mitchell predicted that a nation prepared to build a massive bomber force to strike hard, continuous blows at an enemy’s economy and people would end the next war before its infantry or the Navy had an opportunity to enter the fight. He did not, however, envision precision bombing. High-altitude bombing would be highly inaccurate. To hit industrial targets, bombers would have to “drop their eggs well into the center of the towns,” in Air Marshal Trenchard’s phrase, killing not just factories but innocent civilians.

Mitchell promoted his ideas with crusading fervor, inside the military bureaucracy, as assistant chief of the Air Service, and outside it, in a stream of books, articles, and public lectures. Standing at a podium, he would use his gold-headed swagger stick to drive home his points; the “Napoleon of the Air,” the humorist Will Rogers called him. When Mitchell was opposed by the brass hats of both the Army and the Navy, who saw airpower—power in the third dimension—as a mere adjunct to traditional surface warfare, he attacked them with rancor, alienating the very powers he hoped to persuade.

Mitchell’s ideas on warfare ran ahead of their enabling technology; no bomber in planning, production, or use was capable of carrying out long-range strategic bombing. As one military expert explained in 1925, a bomber “can hit a town from ten thousand feet—if the town is big enough.” But Mitchell was a modern man, a technological enthusiast; American science and engineering, he was convinced, would soon develop the bomber that would make him a prophet.

Mitchell’s ideas ran into another obstacle, what one writer has called a “moral blockade.” Toward the end of World War I, Secretary of War Newton D. Baker had ordered the Air Service not to undertake an air assault that “has as its objective, promiscuous bombing upon industry, commerce or population.” Warring on civilians, Baker believed, violated long-standing religious and humanitarian ideals. Opinion polls conducted later showed the public in broad agreement. Most Americans were also weary of war and unwilling to support large government outlays for the military. So Mitchell had to shrewdly cast his arguments for an independent Air Force in the language of fiscal restraint and national defense. A large, land-based Air Force could defend the nation’s shores and its far-off bases in Alaska, Hawaii, and the Philippines more effectively and less expensively than the Navy, he claimed—the cost of one battleship equaling that of a thousand planes.

At the time, the prevailing military orthodoxy was that an airplane could not sink a battleship. Seeing this as archaic nonsense, Mitchell pressured his supporters in Congress to force the Navy to conduct a series of tests. In the most spectacular one, in July 1921, his small air fleet used six 2,000-pound bombs to send the captured German battleship Ostfriesland to the bottom of the waters off the Virginia Capes. The Navy called the test unfair; the anchored ship, with its guns muffled, was a sitting duck. And with General Pershing heading the fight against an independent Air Force, Mitchell got nowhere with the Army. Nonetheless, he continued to press his case with such vehemence that the Army refused to reappoint him as assistant chief of the Air Service, and in 1925, transferred him to a base in out-of-the-way San Antonio, where one wall of his office was an open latrine for clerks. “Mitchell’s stay in Texas,” wrote one historian, “was a little like Napoleon’s exile to Elba. He plotted and planned to continue the fight.” But unlike the little emperor, he could not keep quiet, “even out in the sagebrush.” When he blamed two terrible military air accidents on the incompetence and “criminal negligence” of the Navy and War Departments, he provoked the court-martial that would serve as a national forum for his ideas. “He wouldn’t rest, until he became a martyr,” said Hap Arnold, who had recently become the Air Service’s chief public relations officer.

At the sensational seven-week-long trial, Spaatz and Arnold put their careers on the line by testifying on Mitchell’s behalf; and Ira Eaker, who had some legal training, helped shape the defense. All three of them revered the vainglorious air commander, despite his excesses. Airmen further down the chain of command supported Mitchell’s ideas about airpower, although a few, like Lt. James H. Doolittle, felt his stridency hurt his cause. “Like all zealots, he was intolerant of any view other than his own,” Doolittle wrote later.

Mitchell was convicted of making insubordinate public statements and was suspended from duty for five years. But his ideas meant more to him than his military career. He resigned his commission to continue his public fight for an independent, offensive-minded Air Force. Inside the corridors of power he depended on loyalists like Hap Arnold to continue to lead the “battle of ideas” that pitted younger flying officers against the entrenched powers in the War Department.

Arnold and his band of mavericks—the Bomber Mafia, as they have been called—were bound together by their devotion to Mitchell and their pure love of the air. They were aerial pioneers who made a succession of record-setting flights, widely publicized exploits that did as much as Mitchell’s writings to prove the potential of the military airplane. In 1929, Spaatz and Eaker were half of the crew of a Trimotor plane, Question Mark, which used the revolutionary technique of midair refueling to set a world endurance record, remaining airborne for over 150 hours. Seven years later, flying with a hood over his cockpit, Ira Eaker was the first pilot to make a transcontinental flight on instruments alone. This experience would make him a better bomber commander in the coming war, when his planes were forced to fly in one of the most capricious weather systems in the world.

Not to be outdone by his younger friends, Hap Arnold, at age forty-eight, led ten two-engine bombers on a 1934 nonstop flight from Washington state to Alaska and back, an astonishing feat at a time when there were almost no air routes over the trackless subarctic mountains. The next year he was promoted to brigadier general and command of the Air Corps’ chief combat outfit, the 1st Bombardment Wing, at March Field, California. All the while, he and Eaker, who had taken courses in journalism at the University of Southern California, co-authored three books on airpower, which bore the strong stamp of Mitchell’s influence. As a newspaper had predicted at the time of Mitchell’s court-martial, “ ‘Mitchellism’ will remain after . . . Mitchell has gone.”

The Bomber Mafia

When Billy Mitchell died in 1936, his reputation lived on in the lectures of the instructors at the Air Corps Tactical School at Maxwell Field, in Montgomery, Alabama. This was the first professional school for aviators and aviation planners in the world, and it became a nurturing center for the newest thinking about strategic bombing. “We are not concerned with fighting the past war,” Lt. Col. Harold L. George, the faculty’s leading bomber theorist, described the school’s mission to his students. “We are concerned . . . in determining how air power will be employed in the next war.” In their dealings with the War Department, air commanders continued to speak of the bomber as a defensive weapon, but at Maxwell Field the ideas of the offense prevailed. It was Mitchellism with a difference. Colonel George and his colleagues rejected Mitchell’s and Douhet’s idea that bombing would have a greater impact on morale than production. And while Mitchell and Douhet called for the destruction of the enemy’s pivotal economic centers, the only target they had precisely identified was a country’s aircraft industry. What were the critical strong points in a modern industrial nation’s infrastructure, and how could they be taken out? The air visionaries at Maxwell Field addressed these questions directly. In doing so, they came up with something new and expressly American: daylight precision bombing.

They fashioned their new “philosophy” of warfare even before the Air Corps began secretly testing the invention that made it possible. This was the Norden bombsight, America’s most important secret weapon before the Manhattan Project. It was first developed in 1931 for sea-based naval aircraft by a reclusive Dutch engineer, Carl L. Norden. His wife teased him, calling him a “merchant of death,” but Norden claimed he was trying to save lives by making bombing more precise. Two years after the Navy began testing the bombsight, the Army ordered it for aircraft engaged in coastal defense, eventually spending approximately $1.5 billion—65 percent of the cost of the Manhattan Project—to purchase 90,000 of them. When air crews of Hap Arnold’s 1st Bombardment Wing tested it in the clear, dry skies over California’s Mojave Desert, they were amazed by its accuracy.

Here was the technological breakthrough the faculty at Maxwell Field had been hoping for. Carl Norden’s gyroscope-stabilized instrument, which computed drift and dropping angle, would make high-altitude bombing both more effective and more humane, they began arguing in 1935, the year they learned of it. But there was a problem. The War Department envisioned the Norden bombsight as a defensive weapon; it was to be installed solely in bombers guarding the North American coastline from a naval-based invasion. The Bomber Mafia had other ideas. Cities could now be bombed with surgical precision, they argued, targeting only key economic sites such as electric power plants and oil refineries. This upended Billy Mitchell’s argument that high-altitude bombing would have to be indiscriminate. “The idea of killing thousands of men, women, and children [is] basically repugnant to American mores,” wrote Major Haywood S. Hansell, one of the bright lights at Maxwell—and later a bomber strategist and combat commander in the war. Hansell added tellingly, however, that killing civilians was also militarily ineffective. People were poor targets for bombs because they had, contrary to Douhet and Mitchell, stoic staying power. They could also be evacuated from cities or find protection in public bomb shelters, whereas industries were fragile, immobile, and virtually indefensible.2 This was warfare suited to the American character. “[It] combined moral scruples, historical optimism, and technological pioneering, all three distinctly American characteristics,” wrote historian John Keegan.

Forbidden by the War Department from studying the economies of other nations, and prevented by their budget from hiring trained economists, the ascendant theorists at Maxwell—Donald Wilson, Kenneth Walker, Harold George, Muir Fairchild, and Haywood Hansell—did their own close-in analysis of the American industrial system. This led to an Air Plan based on the idea of “industrial webs,” a strategy they would later have the opportunity to implement as members of Hap Arnold’s wartime planning staff.

Modern industrial states, they theorized, were highly vulnerable to air attack because their economies formed a delicate, interconnected fabric or web. A relentless precision bombing campaign needed to hit only those industries that made products, or supplied services, essential to almost all other industries. Destroy an enemy’s “choke points”—its steel, electric power, ball bearing, oil, and railroad industries—and its entire war economy would collapse, making continued military resistance untenable.

Japan and Germany were expected to be America’s enemies in the next war, so it was important, the Bomber Mafia argued, to find bases in countries of likely allies, like China and England, from which to launch a strategic bombing campaign. This campaign would begin in the earliest months of the war and build to full strength within two years, the time it would take to fully mobilize America’s prodigious productive power. In early 1935, without a plane—or a war—to test it, the theory was pure vision and speculation. Later that year, the Air Corps got its plane. Six years later, it got its war.

In 1927, General Douhet had written that “the true combat plane, able to impose its will upon the enemy, had not yet been invented; nor does it seem likely it will be soon.” In the 1930s the Air Corps had set out to prove him wrong. Under contract with the Army, the Boeing Airplane Company of Seattle, Washington, took on a project that many aviation engineers thought unfeasible: developing an all-metal monoplane that was both large and fast, one that proved that size does not necessarily compromise aerodynamic efficiency. Boeing’s answer was the B-17 Flying Fortress (model 299). While previous American bombers had two engines, the prototype Fortress of 1935 had four 750 horsepower radial engines, which made it faster than any American fighter plane. The final production model, the B-17G, introduced in the war in 1943, had four 1,200 horsepower engines, carried a normal bomb load of 4,000 pounds, flew, fully loaded, at between 150 and 250 miles per hour at 25,000 feet, and had a combat radius of 650 to 800 miles, depending on the size of the bomb load. It was an elegantly engineered aircraft, suggesting both power and movement. Menacing-looking on the ground, it was beautiful to watch in the air.

The first silver Fortresses arrived at the Air Corps’ bombardier training group at Langley Field, Virginia, not far from the capital, in early 1937, a year after Hap Arnold returned to Washington as assistant to the chief of the Air Corps. A flexible man, more a fixer than an ideologue, Arnold’s stormy days with Billy Mitchell had taught him to be more diplomatic in his relations with the War Department, where he had built friendships with superiors, who had helped him get this position. The first time Arnold flew the new bomber, he fell in love with it. Unlike the “abstract science at the Air Corps Tactical School,” this was “air power that you could put your hand on.” In its later combat-developed form, with up to thirteen .50 caliber Browning machine guns, eight of them mounted in movable turrets, it was a fearsome war machine. Equipped with the Norden bombsight and a new automatic pilot system developed in the 1930s, it was the plane that could give weight to the Bomber Mafia’s ideas. But only if they could convince the War Department to use it offensively, and not strictly to protect America’s airspace and sea approaches.

The introduction of the B-17 solidified the idea of the bomber’s impregnability, which had been a central tenet of Douhet’s work. But what if the enemy developed an air defense system capable of inflicting unacceptable punishment on the unescorted Fortresses? Why didn’t Air Corps planners push for the development of a long-range fighter escort? One reason was a failure of imagination. The Bomber Mafia failed to foresee that radar, then being developed by eight countries, including the United States, as a means of early warning against air attack, would soon be widely employed for military detection. Their thinking on fighter escorts went like this: with the entire ether to fly through, bombers would be almost impossible to detect before they reached their target; and near the target they would be flying at altitudes above the range of enemy ground guns, and in self-protecting formations that would be too formidable for enemy fighters to penetrate. “A well-planned and well-conducted air attack, once launched, cannot be stopped,” declared Air Corps Tactical School instructor Kenneth Walker. Haywood Hansell took a more realistic approach, at least admitting the possibility that an enemy’s air defenses might prove successful against a bomber invasion. If that happened, those defenses, he argued, would have to be broken by direct air combat and by air attacks on fighter bases, aircraft factories, and sources of aviation fuel. That meant knocking out the Luftwaffe in a brutal head-to-head confrontation, with the bombers bearing the burden of the fight, “seeking attrition through air combat.” In the contested skies over Germany, the Flying Fortress would have to live up to its name.

The bomber enthusiasts had another argument against developing long-range escorts. Since the B-17 was faster than any fighter plane in operation in 1935, equipping fighters with additional gas tanks for long-range escort duty would reduce their speed and maneuverability, making them incapable of keeping up with the bombers and leaving them unable to defend themselves against lighter, faster fighter planes. Developing a high-speed fighter with the range of a bomber was considered an engineering impossibility. “We just closed our minds to [long-range escorts]; we couldn’t be stopped; the bomber was invincible,” Gen. Laurence S. Kuter observed in a refreshingly candid postwar interview.

Money was another factor. With Congress and the War Department initially willing to order only thirteen B-17s, to push for pursuit planes would have jeopardized the bomber program that the Air Corps counted on as “an excuse for existence,” in Maj. Donald Wilson’s apt phrase.

If airpower theorists like Wilson and Kuter had studied the life and work of Billy Mitchell more closely, they might have paid more attention to the role of fighter aircraft in bomber warfare, not only as escorts but also in pursuit. In World War I, Mitchell and other air commanders at the front realized that no aerial operation—tactical, strategic, or reconnaissance—was possible without mastery of the air. “For Mitchell an air force’s first task,” historian Williamson Murray pointed out, “should be destruction of the enemy’s air force, particularly his pursuit aircraft; not until one had achieved that goal could an air force turn against other targets. Thus, the enemy fighter force was the essential target.” Accordingly, Mitchell called for a balanced air force made up of at least 60 percent fighter aircraft.

Air supremacy achieved by fighter aircraft was the prerequisite for a successful bombing offensive. In the coming European war, it would take American Air Force leaders more than a year and near paralyzing loss rates to absorb this lesson. But the Bomber Mafia did work mightily in the late 1930s to encourage the development of something overlooked by both Mitchell and Douhet—a military-industrial complex committed to the production of staggering numbers of warplanes.


Clouds of Planes


In the summer of 1937 the Air Corps was fighting desperately, often despairingly, for funds to buy greater numbers of B-17s. At the time it had only seven B-17s on the runway at Langley under the command of Carl Spaatz. One year later, Munich changed everything.

After Hitler annexed Austria, he demanded the ethnically German province of the Sudetenland from Czechoslovakia. At the Munich conference of September 29–30, 1938, Britain and France abandoned Czechoslovakia to her fate. “[I bring you] peace with honor,” Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain said famously upon his return to London. “I believe it is peace for our time.”

Less than two months later, Franklin Roosevelt, a devoted Navy man, came out for a stupendous expansion of American airpower, urging immediate action to increase production of every type of warplane, for America’s own use as well as for shipment to threatened France and England. Only thousands of bombers, he was convinced, would impress Hitler and shield America’s shores and strategic possessions, including the Panama Canal and the Philippines, from air- and sea-based attacks from Japan and bases in the Western hemisphere that Germany might seize in the near future. After the Munich capitulation, Roosevelt was “sure . . . that we were going to get into the war” and “that air power would win it,” said Harry Hopkins, his chief aide. But like most Americans, Roosevelt insisted that air war should be conducted with moral restraint. When war finally broke out in Europe in 1939, he would appeal to both sides to refrain from “ruthless bombing from the air of civilians in unfortified centers of population.” Churchill agreed, and so, treacherously, did Hitler, even as his Luftwaffe was about to begin bombing the center of Warsaw.

•  •  •

In the month of the Munich crisis, Hap Arnold became chief of the Army Air Corps and immediately elevated Spaatz and Eaker to positions of influence at headquarters. They had won the “battle of the White House,” he told his planning staff; now they had to win the battle of production. Arnold headed this fight with vigor and imagination. He was a fine leader “in an inspiring sense,” recalls Robert A. Lovett, the Wall Street financier who became the new secretary of war for air. “There was something flamboyant, almost boyish, about his enthusiasms.” Arnold’s guiding dictum was carved in a wooden plaque that sat prominently on his desk. “The difficult we do today. The impossible takes a little longer.” He had learned this, he told people, from the Wright brothers.

A smooth and smiling diplomat with his superiors, Arnold could be distant and brutally difficult with those who served under him. He was a driven man, “ruthlessly” impatient with failure, like his stern father, an Ardmore, Pennsylvania, physician. Arnold was famous for his withering harangues. The target at one staff meeting was Steve Ferson, a lower-level staff officer. Ferson turned crimson and began to sweat profusely as Arnold screamed in his face. Grabbing his chest, he dropped dead of a massive heart attack on the carpet in front of the general’s desk. After he was carried off, Arnold told everyone to go home for the rest of the day, but he stayed at his desk, working alone. “Most of the rest of us,” said Laurence Kuter, “went to our desks also.”

Arnold would suffer five heart attacks himself, the last of them fatal. Some his staff called their fast-acting boss a “slave driver,” but those closest to him understood his urgency. The Air Corps had “to be built in time to forestall disaster in Europe and the Pacific,” said Kuter. “As the leader, no-one worked under the pressure he did. He took the brunt of the demands of the president, Harry Hopkins, and the White House staff, as well as other high outside agencies.”

To win these battles Arnold developed alliances in the business and scientific communities, in Hollywood, in Congress, and in the White House, where his old friend Gen. George C. Marshall was put in charge of building a large, modern army to meet the Axis threat. And it was comforting to him to have Carl Spaatz at his elbow, as his chief of staff. Spaatz was born and raised in Boyertown, Pennsylvania, not far from Arnold’s hometown. Though the two men remained lifelong friends, they were polar opposites. Lt. Gen. Elwood R. “Pete” Quesada, who served under both of them in World War II, compared them: “Spaatz was a . . . plotter [and] planner. . . . He wouldn’t get into trouble. Arnold, on the other hand, was a dynamic doer . . . always trying something new. . . . He had some new project every day. . . . Spaatz was a thoughtful guy, whereas Arnold was the agitating guy and that’s what made him such a marvelous chief. [Without him] we would never have had the Air Force.” But without Spaatz as a counterbalance, Arnold might never have gotten as far as he did. “Spaatz got along with people better than Arnold.” A “modest” man, “he engendered confidence because he was so damn stable.”

Spaatz loved poker, bridge, Cuban cigars, and Kentucky whiskey. At bright-spirited parties at Arnold’s home, he would get out his guitar and launch into his bottomless repertoire of risqué songs. When he was finished, he would go off in a corner and puff on his stogie. “I never learned anything when I was talking,” he would tell people. Arnold and Spaatz “adored each other,” said Quesada. “They matched each other and were a real team, even though Arnold [would] exaggerate . . . the potential of airpower, whereas Spaatz was not inclined toward exaggerating anything.” But the real difference between them, Quesada shrewdly noted, was that Spaatz “was more wise than decisive. Arnold was more decisive than wise.”

In 1938, the Army Air Corps had “plans but not planes.” In May 1940, with France about to fall to the Nazis, Roosevelt called for an annual output of 50,000 planes, imploring the aircraft industry to expand its normal capacity of 2,000 a year to more than 4,000 a month. Congress quickly provided the funding. In Arnold’s words, “In forty-five minutes I was given $1,500,000,000 and told to get an air force.” At the time of the Munich crisis, the American air force, with 1,200 combat aircraft and 22,700 officers and enlisted men, was twentieth in size in the world. By December 1941, it had almost 340,000 officers and enlisted personnel and almost 3,000 combat planes. The newest of them was the B-24 Liberator, which flew faster, further, and carried a larger bomb load than the more rugged and maneuverable B-17. By 1944, mass production and mass education—areas in which this country had long led the world—would give the United States the greatest air force on earth, with 80,000 planes and 2.4 million fliers and support personnel, 31 percent of total Army strength. It was a force larger than the entire combat army that General Pershing had commanded in World War I. In March 1944, American factories poured out over 9,000 military planes, over twice the number Roosevelt had requested in 1940, an estimate that was considered “fantastically impossible” at the time by both Hitler and most of the president’s advisors. “Never before or since,” wrote one of Arnold’s biographers, “has a military machine of such size and technological complexity been created in so short a period”; and it was built through a close partnership between business and government that was not possible in the highly militarized Nazi state. Arnold “provided the leadership, the fire, the push behind it all,” said Lovett. But the pace of production was not quick enough to manufacture a sizable bomber fleet by 1942. And with the first burst of expansion, from 1938 to 1942, came an unavoidable watering down of production and training standards that would affect crew and plane performance in the first year of combat operations.

On June 20, 1941, Secretary of War Henry L. Stimson officially established the Army Air Forces; and with Arnold eventually serving on both the U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff and the British-American Combined Chiefs of Staff, the Air Force acquired a good measure of independence from the ground forces. With this came presidential authority to draw up its own production blueprint for the fast approaching war. In August 1941, during nine days of furious effort, four former Maxwell Field instructors—Harold George, Kenneth Walker, Laurence Kuter, and Haywood Hansell—drafted a document, Air War Plans Division-1, which “read like a Tactical School lecture.” AWPD-1 forecast with uncanny accuracy the number of men and machines it would take to win an air war against Germany, and it went beyond production planning to boldly establish the Air Force’s supreme mission in the war: “to conduct a sustained and unremitting air offensive against Germany and Italy, to destroy their will and capability to continue the war, and to make an invasion either unnecessary or feasible without excessive cost.” Predictably, Harold George and his planning team gave the development of a long-range fighter escort low priority. The escort they called for, moreover, was the wrong type—a large, heavily armed war ship, a Flying Fortress without the bombs.

When Marshall and Stimson endorsed the plan, the Army Air Forces finally gained official acceptance of strategic bombing. It had achieved what Arnold called its “Magna Carta.”

There were problems ahead, however. Air Force planners based their war-winning strategy on practice bombing runs flown in cloudless weather, at low altitudes, and without even simulated resistance. In Command Decision, his brilliant post-war novel about the Eighth Air Force, William Wister Haines, who served as a staff officer with the Eighth, wrote that precision bombing, as envisioned in 1941, “could no more end wars than a doctor can confer immortality.” It was, at best, an unproven “therapy.” More than that, it had become dogma, not just untested but unquestioned orthodoxy, a doctrine that would lead to unnecessary losses of men and planes in the first year and a half of bombing operations over the Reich, when American bomber crews experienced a type of air war unforeseen by the Bomber Mafia.



1. On June 20, 1941, the U.S. Army Air Corps (USAAC) had become the U.S. Army Air Forces (USAAF). To avoid awkward and sometimes confusing phrasing, I have generally used the term “Air Force” instead of the correct term, Air Forces. If it’s the formal full name, Army Air Forces, I of course leave it plural.

2. By 1943, German industry was resilient, mobile, and powerfully defended.



CHAPTER TWO




Eaker’s Amateurs

“It is summer and there is war all over the world.”

BERT STILES, PILOT, EIGHTH AIR FORCE

Washington, D.C., December 1941

The Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor “shook the United States as nothing had since the firing on Fort Sumter,” wrote historian Samuel Eliot Morison. Republicans and Democrats, interventionists and isolationists, labor and capital, closed ranks, and the nation moved from peace to war with a unity that it had never known before in time of crisis. On December 8, President Roosevelt appeared before a joint session of the Congress to ask for a declaration of war against Japan. Congress responded with only a single dissenting vote. Three days later, Germany declared war on the United States, a decision more calamitous for its cause than its invasion of Russia the previous June.

At the Arcadia Conference, a high-level Anglo-American meeting convened at the White House that December, Churchill and Roosevelt endorsed the “defeat Germany first” strategy they had tentatively agreed to earlier and called for an immediate buildup of American airpower in Britain. The following month, Hap Arnold created the Eighth Air Force and appointed Spaatz to head it and Eaker to command its bombardment force. The three friends would run the European bomber war that they had been preparing for since the Munich crisis.

Spaatz—a West Point graduate, decorated combat flier, and Arnold’s closest friend—was a predictable choice. Eaker was a surprise. The son of struggling Texas sharecroppers, he had entered the Signal Corps in 1917 after graduating from Southeastern Normal School in Durant, Oklahoma, too late to see combat. Although he had flown a number of record-smashing Air Corps test flights in the 1930s, his experience was solely with fighter planes. But he was Arnold’s protégé and co-author, and Arnold knew he would strike at the enemy like a pit viper. “I want . . . the fighter spirit in bombardment,” he told Eaker on giving him his new command.

A short, square-jawed, balding man, Eaker spoke so softly he could barely be heard, but he was ferociously ambitious and had advanced on his own merits in the smothering culture of West Point favoritism. He was an accomplished writer and speaker; and with his courtly manner and soft Texas accent, he was a born-to-the-saddle diplomat, a skill he would need in sensitive dealings with the Royal Air Force. The British had seen their own, and Germany’s, daylight bombing effort fail, and wanted either to absorb the Eighth Air Force into their Bomber Command’s night force or have the Americans send them bombers to be flown by England’s own battle-seasoned crews. Eaker had served briefly in England in 1941 as an observer of RAF operations against the Luftwaffe and had built close friendships with British flight officers and government ministers. He knew how persuasive the British could be, but he was sworn to keep the Eighth an independent command.

Haywood Hansell and his fellow air war planners had warned General Arnold that America would not have the planes and personnel needed to begin sustained strategic bombing until late 1943. And Spaatz cautioned Gen. George Marshall, America’s chief war strategist, not to commit the force Eaker would be building in England before it was able to deliver decisive blows. But in early 1942, with Japan sweeping through Southeast Asia and the lightning-quick German army driving deeply into Russia and across North Africa toward the Suez Canal, it “looked,” Arnold wrote later, “as if the Allies were losing the war.” So Marshall ordered Arnold to immediately send what heavy bombers he had available to Britain. They were not expected to undertake the all-out assault on the German war machine that the Bomber Mafia envisioned. Their mission was to help prepare the way for a cross-Channel invasion of Nazi-occupied France. This was to occur in the fall of 1942, if Russia collapsed, but more likely the following spring. General Marshall, the most passionate proponent of an Anglo-American invasion of northern France—“our shortest route to the heart of Germany”—told Eaker that his bombers and fighter escorts had one year to achieve air supremacy over Northern Europe. “I do not believe a cross-Channel invasion of Europe will ever be possible until the Luftwaffe is destroyed,” he said. “Do your plans provide that?” Eaker assured him that they did and that the skies over the invasion beaches would be swept clean of German planes if he was given men and machines sufficient to the task.

On February 4, 1942, Ira Eaker and six staff officers left for their new assignment in England. Carl Spaatz stayed behind in Washington to oversee the preparation and dispatch of the first planes and crews of the Eighth, including its Fighter Command, headed by Brig. Gen. Frank “Monk” Hunter, a decorated World War I ace. When they were ready to be shipped out he would accompany them to England. This left the task of building an entire air force on foreign soil to a newly minted forty-five-year-old general whose largest command up to then was a fighter unit of 1,500 men. Eaker’s charge was daunting: to establish a headquarters operation, secure airbases and work closely with the RAF to assemble the airpower infrastructure essential to Eighth Air Force bombing operations. Eaker would increase the size of the Eighth Air Force in England from seven men and no planes in February 1942 to 185,000 men and 4,000 planes by December 1943.

In 1942, the largest American corporation was General Motors, with 314,000 employees in 112 production plants. Eaker’s job was comparable to building this gargantuan automobile enterprise from scratch in less than two years. “Few men who are thought of as industrial giants ever put a major organization together as fast as the Eighth was formed,” wrote Eaker’s aide, James Parton. “And there was the added element of inspiring the crews to risk their lives; it was not just getting a large factory ready to make and sell automobiles.”

Hap Arnold didn’t make Eaker’s task any easier, keeping the best minds in the Air Force on his own Washington-based staff. “You assemble some bright young civilians . . . and train them and I will commission them in any grade you ask,” he told Eaker. “You can take a smart executive and make a fair Army officer out of him in a few months. You can never take a dumb Army officer and make a good combat leader out of him.”

Only two of Eaker’s initial staff was regular Army: Lt. William S. Cowart, Jr., a young fighter pilot who had served under him in the 20th Pursuit Squadron, and Col. Frank Armstrong, Jr., an old and trusted friend who became Eaker’s executive officer. Three staff members were plucked from the Army reserves: Beirne Lay, Jr., a Yale graduate who had retired from the Army Air Corps in the 1930s to pursue a full-time career as a writer, and two executives from the Sperry Gyroscope Corporation, Harris B. Hull and Hull’s friend Frederick W. Castle, a West Point graduate and, like Hull, an experienced pilot. The final member of the staff was a freshly commissioned Major, Peter Beasley, a Lockheed Aircraft executive.

Later, Hull and Castle did some recruiting of their own, almost entirely from civilian ranks: journalists, lawyers, businessmen, editors, and newspaper and publishing executives, among them Eaker’s editor at Harper’s, an editor at the Saturday Evening Post, and Parton, a Time magazine editor and executive who would join Eaker in England that spring. Dubbed “Eaker’s Amateurs” by their doubting RAF hosts, they formed a surprisingly capable headquarters staff, and two of them, Armstrong and Castle, became excellent combat commanders.

The original seven almost didn’t make it to England. With no Air Force planes available, they flew first to Portugal, a neutral country, on the Pan American Clipper, a four-engine Boeing flying boat. From there they planned to travel to England on a transport operated by the Dutch airline, KLM, now under the control of the Netherlands government in exile in London. Landing in Lisbon, they saw Luftwaffe planes parked wingtip to wingtip on the runway, and the city was swarming with Nazi undercover agents. “We had been warned [about this],” Eaker recalls. “We were sent in civilian clothes and told to carry no papers of any kind. . . . All of our directives were in our heads.” Before leaving the Metropole hotel for dinner, Eaker’s group rearranged the contents of their suitcases. When they returned to their rooms that evening, they discovered that their luggage had been searched, probably by Gestapo agents. Two days later, at five o’clock in the morning, a Dutch pilot led them aboard a KLM DC-3 transport. Everyone was on edge, knowing that the waters of the Bay of Biscay were being heavily patrolled by German warplanes. The Gestapo knew they were in Lisbon, heading for London. Would Hermann Göring’s airmen be ordered to shoot them down?

A half-hour after takeoff, the Dutch pilot made an unscheduled landing at Porto, in northern Portugal. Calling Eaker to the cabin, he informed him that a German plane had been shadowing them. After waiting an hour or so, he took off. Flying far out on the Bay of Biscay to avoid detection, he again summoned Eaker forward and pointed to a German bomber bearing in on them. The Dutch pilot “jockeyed slightly from one side to the other in an effort to throw off the aim of the German if he opened up on us,” Frank Armstrong recalls. “At that opportune time Lady Luck took a hand in the affair. One engine of the German plane belched a blob of smoke,” and when the pilot cut off the engine he was thrown off course. “The fighter bomber passed under us at about 800 yards and headed for land and a place of safety. Our pilot came out of his compartment, turned his coat collar up high under his eyes and peeped at the passengers. For the next few seconds everyone was silent—silent in prayer of thanksgiving.”

Later that day, they reached England. The aircraft log read, “Arrived at destination: flight uneventful.” A year later, the Germans shot down a commercial plane over the Bay of Biscay, the second reported attack the Luftwaffe had made on airliners flying out of Lisbon. The plane was carrying thirteen passengers, among them the English actor Leslie Howard. There were no survivors.

On arriving in London, Eaker’s party was taken on a drive through the battered but defiant metropolis. The German Blitz, eight months of fire and fear in 1940 and ’41, had killed some 30,000 Londoners and left another 50,000 injured. And on far fronts, the war was going disastrously for the Allies. In Libya, British forces had been soundly defeated by Field Marshal Erwin Rommel’s desert army; in Russia, the Red Army had been pushed back to Moscow and Leningrad; and in the Philippines, a starving, undermanned American force under Lt. Gen. Douglas C. MacArthur was making its final stand in the mountain jungles of Bataan. On February 15, five days before Eaker arrived in London, Singapore, the bastion of Occidental power in the Far East, fell to the Japanese.

For Britain, these were the bleakest months of the war. Even America’s entry into the conflict, which Churchill happily saw as an assurance that “England would live” and that Germany and Japan “would be ground to powder,” had failed to excite English public opinion. Londoners scorned America for being caught napping at Pearl Harbor and carped about it coming into the war so late.

For Eaker and his group, it was a shock to be in a country under siege; none of them had realized how pinched life had become in Great Britain. Meat, fish, vegetables, jam, margarine, eggs, condensed milk, breakfast cereal, cheese, and biscuits were severely rationed, along with clothing, soap, and coal for home heating. No one was starving, but rationing had reduced everyone to a monotonous, starchy diet that sapped vitality.

Eaker and his tiny staff had left an America that was not yet prepared for total war. England was fully mobilized, almost a garrison state. Able-bodied men and women between the ages of eighteen and sixty were required to perform national service of some kind. Childless women between the ages of twenty and thirty were conscripted for home-front military service or jobs in munitions industries, the first time this had been done in any Western nation. In no combatant country except Russia were civilians subjected to a greater degree of government regulation and compulsory mobilization. Women operated antiaircraft batteries in London, and factories all over the country worked around the clock, seven days a week, with workers putting in ten-to-twelve-hour shifts.

England had the look of a country fighting for survival. Hundreds of thousands of working-class families, 60 percent of them in London, had had their places of residence damaged or destroyed by Nazi warplanes and countless thousands of them were still mourning the loss of family and friends. German air raids had already killed nearly 43,000 British civilians. Not until the fourth year of the war would the Germans kill more British soldiers than British women and children. “This is a war of the unknown warriors,” Churchill declared. “The whole of the warring nations are engaged, not only soldiers, but the entire population, men, women and children.”

It was a people’s war, but the people were weary. “What a different London from last year, when people were keyed up by raids and threats and filled with recklessness, very gay and smart,” a British woman wrote in her diary. Families went to bed early because of crippling cuts in electrical service and coal deliveries, and at night the streetlights were left unlit and windows were covered with blackout curtains. Even when the sun occasionally showed its face, “people rarely smile.”

On the dreary Sunday that Ira Eaker and his staff made their way through London in an RAF staff car, they passed through bombed-out neighborhoods in the East End, near the city’s major docks. The American newspaperman Harrison Salisbury “didn’t understand how air power worked,” he wrote in his journal, until he took a bus to a street fair in this neighborhood, the most heavily bombed area of the city. “All around [was] the desert left by the bombers.” Salisbury had met General Spaatz in Washington and had gone to house parties where he and other Air Force generals talked far into the night about war-winning airpower. This was Salisbury’s first face-to-face confrontation with “successful bomb warfare. I understood now what Tooey Spaatz was talking about. This is what they wanted to do to Germany.”

More accurately, this is what Britain decided it must do to Germany. At first, the only thing the RAF had dropped on German civilians were leaflets urging them to rise up against their tyrannical rulers. Bombing operations were severely limited and confined largely to airfields and maritime shipping. And they were conducted in daylight by small numbers of obsolete twin-engine bombers. British leaders feared that terror bombing German cities would provoke Luftwaffe reprisal raids on London and concerned, as well, that the RAF did not yet possess sufficient bombers and crews to damage German production or morale. Better to build and conserve the bomber force for more decisive operations.

Then in mid-May 1940, when the German army overran the Netherlands with shocking ease and bombed Rotterdam, killing 980 civilians, Churchill and the War Cabinet authorized Bomber Command to attack marshaling yards and synthetic oil plants in the Ruhr and the Rhineland. Their hope was that these raids would damage the sources of German military might and give Allied armies massed in northern France a chance of holding on against the Nazi juggernaut. The raids were to be conducted under the cover of darkness, since German fighters and flak were decimating the RAF’s small air fleets.

The RAF raid on the night of May 15–16, 1940, was the beginning of the world’s first large-scale strategic bombing war. Although terror was not the objective, Churchill knew that there would be civilian casualties and that the Luftwaffe would probably strike back at London, but he expected the RAF’s new radar-guided fighters to defeat the German bombers. Then in retaliation for an accidental Luftwaffe raid on London on the night of August 24–25, 1940, part of a German air campaign to soften up Britain for invasion, Churchill ordered a reprisal raid on Berlin the very next night. Damage was minimal, but Hitler was furious. Beginning on September 7, he launched a devastating bomber Blitz on London, which soon extended to other British cities with the primary aim of destroying factories and terrorizing the civilian population to the point where its support for the war collapsed. As payback for the massive bombing of Coventry the night of November 14–15, Britain’s new chief of the Air Staff, Sir Charles Portal, ordered a terror raid on Mannheim in mid-December 1940, which was largely ineffective, with bombs dispersed all over the countryside around the city.

The bomber war that airpower theorists Giulio Douhet and Billy Mitchell had predicted was beginning to materialize. But for a time Britain showed more restraint. Throughout the Blitz, German attacks on British cities were continuous, night after night, and almost wholly indiscriminate. The main British bombing effort was directed at military targets, and only a small number of German civilians living within the target areas were killed. There was also a difference in intent. Germany’s aim was conquest, England’s survival. After the evacuation of its army at Dunkirk, Britain had no other way to hit back directly at Germany. In 1940, “[bombing] represented a clear example of making war as Britain must, rather than as Britain might have wished,” writes historian Max Hastings.

The results of these attacks were discouraging: both losses and inaccuracy remained high. In the summer of 1941, an alarming government study of bombing accuracy was released. Its author, a civil servant named D. M. Butt, claimed that only one-third of British planes that reached their targets that June and July had dropped their bombs within five miles of the Aiming Point. In the heavily defended Ruhr, with its permanent cloud of industrial smoke, the number was only in ten.

The Butt report led to a marked change in bombing strategy. With precision bombing impossible at night, England would now do what Churchill had sworn it would never do: deliberately bomb noncombatants. The targets of the new British air campaign were the built-up areas of German cities, the residential centers where most of the workforce lived. Fifty-eight cities of over 100,000 people were put in the target list. The objective: to destroy “the morale of the enemy civil population and in particular, of the industrial workers.” It was to be terror bombing, a fulfillment of the ideas of Douhet and Mitchell. Only it was an act of desperation, not of original military purpose.

The new bombing policy was endorsed by Churchill, who also approved the man appointed to carry it out, Air Marshal Arthur Harris, an earthy, blunt-speaking career officer who had been serving as head of an RAF delegation to Washington. There Harris had met Ira Eaker at a dinner just before both men were scheduled to leave for England, at almost the same time but on separate planes, for their new and exactly parallel commands. On February 22, the day after Eaker’s arrival in London, Harris became commander in chief of Bomber Command. Harris had not instituted the new bombing directive but he enthusiastically supported it, with one salient exception. He considered one of the goals of morale bombing—social revolution—a chimera. Douhet had predicted that a people subjected to unrelenting terror bombing would eventually rise up and force an end to the war. But even if the spirit of the German people was eventually broken by bombing, how would the suffering millions rise against the Nazi regime, with its ruthlessly efficient system of spying, torture, and repression? Harris’s paramount aim was to employ area bombing to slow down German production by destroying industrial sites and killing industrial workers. Good workers, he would tell Eaker, took longer to produce than good machines, and “in short supply would affect war production as much as loss of their factory.” Destroying workers’ housing would also disrupt production by creating anxiety and high rates of absenteeism. Retreating to euphemism, a British official called the new initiative “de-housing,” but the aggressively outspoken “Bomber” Harris, as the press began calling him, never denied that it was terror bombing.

Harris inherited a small, obsolete bomber force of fewer than 400 serviceable planes, only sixty-nine of them heavy bombers. But Bomber Command was already in the process of becoming greatly larger and more technically proficient. That March, British bombers began using a new navigational aid, code-named Gee (Ground electronics engineering) to guide them to targets on nonmoonlit nights, and British factories were beginning to mass-produce the four-engine Stirlings, Halifaxes, and Lancasters that would be the delivering instruments of Harris’s “city-busting” campaigns, a succession of “bomber battles” that would, Harris believed, bring Germany to its knees before a land invasion was undertaken. “I was convinced,” he wrote later, “that a bomber offensive of adequate weight and the right kind of bombs would, if continued for long enough, be something that no country could endure.”

Churchill did not share Harris’s confidence that bombing alone would bring down Nazi Germany, but in the absence of alternatives, he endorsed a bombing program of ruthless resolve, carried out by the man he called—half in admiration, half in abhorrence—the Buccaneer. (Harris’s adoring crews, whom he supported unreservedly, called him Butcher, Butch, for short.) And the prime minister had no moral reservation, then or later, about unrestricted air warfare. After the war, he wrote to a former officer in Bomber Command: “We should never allow ourselves to apologize for what we did to Germany.”

•  •  •

After a three-day stay in London, Eaker and his staff went out to Bomber Command headquarters in High Wycombe, a suburb in the Chiltern Hills, about twenty-five miles west of London. They were greeted warmly by Harris—now Sir Arthur—who invited them to share living and working space with Bomber Command until they established their own headquarters. Harris insisted that Eaker live in the interim with his family—his radiant wife, Lady Jill, and their two-year-old daughter—who had taken up residence in a magnificent country estate with horse barns and tree-shaded riding paths.

Eaker and Harris shared a birthday and both had faced physical hardship earlier in their lives, Harris spending part of his youth in the harsh Rhodesian bush, driving horse teams, clearing mosquito-infested land, and managing a tobacco farm. But in almost every other way, they were opposites. Raymond Daniell, a New York Times correspondent, deftly sketched them. “Harris, who had been a gold miner and tobacco planter in Rhodesia, is a hulking giant of a man—tall with shoulders to match—having a lusty, mordant sense of humor. He is bluff and hearty for an Englishman—a provocative, stimulating conversationalist. . . . Eaker is a soft-spoken Texan with an agile, athletic body. His features, like those of so many men who have devoted most of their lives to flying, have set themselves into sharp, firm lines that make one think of an eagle. He is modest and retiring almost to the point of shyness, and he has that unconsciously thoughtful courtesy usually associated with the antebellum South.”

Harris read military history and books on farming in his spare moments; Eaker exercised with religious regularity. Harris enjoyed cocktails in the evening, mixing and serving the drinks in his velvet smoking jacket; Eaker drank sparingly—some sherry, now and then—but loved poker, cigars, and hearty male companionship. Harris had “a dry, cutting, often vulgar wit,” and was outrageously, often savagely, direct. Eaker kept his passions under tight rein and, in social company, was eager to please. While Harris, the son of a Foreign Service officer, liked to poke fun at the “monocled” class, he was rigidly aloof with his staff, a cold and exacting commander. Eaker had a more relaxed style. He worked closely and informally with his staff, played volleyball, softball, and poker with them, and sought their advice. He was a man totally without pretense. Riding in the back of his limousine, he would ask his driver to stop and pick up British soldiers who were hitchhiking, heading home on leave. “British officers would never do this,” one soldier told him. And when Eaker went into town for a haircut, he would sit patiently in the barbershop with the other villagers, waiting his turn. When asked by the mayor to give an impromptu speech before a group of High Wycombe citizens, he said only this: “We won’t do much talking until we’ve done more fighting. We hope that when we leave, you’ll be glad we came.”

A ruthless taskmaster on the job, Arthur Harris was a cordial and relaxed host in his home, a completely different person than he was in the underground Operations Room at Bomber Command headquarters. He and Eaker liked each other immensely and convened every evening in Harris’s famous “conversation room,” a leather and wood study where Harris had set up a stereopticon machine that displayed three-dimensional aerial photographs of the enemy cities his crews were destroying. But their instant friendship never bridged the gap between their philosophies of bombing. Harris wished Eaker well in his upcoming experiment with daylight bombing, and did everything in his power to prepare him to succeed, sharing information on intelligence, operations, weather forecasting, and target selection. Even so, Harris was convinced that the American experiment would fail and that Eaker would eventually be forced to retrain his crews, reequip his bombers, and join the RAF in its night raids. “God knows, I hope you can do it,” he told Eaker, “but I don’t think you can. Come join us at night. Together we’ll lick them.”

In his memoirs, James Parton recounts a famous story about Harris to illuminate a moral divide between the two commanders. Driving his Bentley at breakneck speed on one of his regular runs between London and High Wycombe, Harris was stopped by a motor policeman, who politely reprimanded him. “You might have killed someone, sir.”

“Young man,” Harris snapped, “I kill thousands of people every night!”

Far from being squeamish about killing civilians, “he relished it,” writes Parton. That may have been so, but the implication is misleading. Ira Eaker never opposed Harris’s raids out of concern for people under the bombs. “I don’t believe there was any moral consideration among military men [in World War II],” he remarked after the war. “When I watched bombs falling and hitting houses and churches I had a distaste for the whole business, but they were shooting at us.” If the atomic bomb had been available in 1942, and he had had authorization to use it, he would have dropped it on Germany with no reservations, he said.

Eaker’s objections to area bombing were founded entirely upon military considerations—it was not the most efficient way of finishing off the enemy. Yet he did believe that area bombing, in conjunction with American precision bombing, would put Germany under intolerable, round-the-clock pressure, hastening its demise. He saw Harris’s operations as complementary to his own and considered him a partner, not a rival.

Harris was helpful in procuring a permanent headquarters for Eaker and his staff, which was growing by the week. Returning from one of their scouting missions through the Chiltern Hills, Eaker’s aides reported that they had found the perfect spot, the Wycombe Abbey School for Girls, a crenellated manor house on a parklike campus, its walkways lined with linden trees. With Harris’s and Eaker’s insistent lobbying, the Air Ministry was pressured to remove the students to Oxford and hand over the school to the Eighth Air Force. On the April day that Eaker and twenty other American officers moved in, they laid out a softball diamond and set up volleyball nets. That night, the duty officer heard bells begin suddenly ringing all over the manor house. Some checking revealed that beside each bed was a bell labeled, “If you need a mistress in the night, ring twice.”

Wycombe Abbey, code-named Pinetree, was only four miles from Harris’s headquarters. This facilitated communication and liaison. Working with Harris, Eaker secured eight former RAF airbases in Huntingdonshire, in the Midlands, the great central plain of England just north of London. Over a hundred additional American bases—bomber and fighter bases as well as supply, training, and repair stations—would soon be built, most of them in Norfolk and Suffolk, in neighboring East Anglia. By late 1943, the Eighth would transform these lands of tall churches and small villages into a great land-based aircraft carrier. East Anglia would become a “distinct American bomber zone,” with the RAF concentrating its bomber bases further to the north.

In May, while British construction crews were completing work on the first two Eighth Air Force bases—Polebrook and neighboring Grafton Underwood—General Hap Arnold arrived in England. On May 30, Churchill invited him and his delegation, along with Eaker and Ambassador Winant, to dinner at Chequers, his Buckinghamshire retreat. As his guests sat down to dinner, the prime minister rose and made a dramatic announcement: at that very minute, he said, the RAF was taking off on the greatest air strike in history, a 1,000-plane raid on Cologne.

Harris had already burned to cinder the historic cores of two combustible medieval cities, Lübeck and Rostock, but he needed a bigger, more convincing demonstration of carpet bombing. Late that evening, as the guests sat in the drawing room sipping port and puffing on cigars, the prime minister announced that Operation Millennium had been a staggering success. The entire center of the Rhineland city was a sea of flames. Later, it was learned that in less than two hours, nearly 500 people were killed, 45,000 left homeless, and 12,000 buildings destroyed, at a cost of only forty-one British aircraft. It had been a publicity grab as much as a military operation. Harris had been able to marshal a force of 1,046 “bombers” only by sending out 400 obsolete planes from training units, but with this raid, he became a national hero and the darling of the British press.

That night at Chequers, Hap Arnold warmly congratulated the prime minister, but in the British success, he saw a lost American opportunity. He had arrived at Chequers to sell Churchill and his RAF advisors on the future of American daylight bombing. “Of all the moments of history. . . . I had picked the night when they were selling their own kind of bombardment to the world. . . . It was plain that now there would be renewed pressure from the British to get our four-engine bombers for the R.A.F.”

The night of the Cologne raid, the Eighth Air Force had only 1,871 men in England—almost all of them ground staff—and not a single warplane. The next day, Ambassador Winant sent an urgent message to President Roosevelt. “England is the place to win the war. Get planes and troops over here as soon as possible.”

The first combat group was already on its way. On the morning of June 10, the stately Queen Elizabeth, refitted as a troopship, docked in the Firth of Clyde. On board, along with thousands of American infantrymen, were air gunners of the 97th Bomb Group; the pilots and navigators would join them a month later, after having experienced a journey over the Atlantic nearly as harrowing as Charles Lindbergh’s crossing fifteen years before.

•  •  •

A B-17 was a far more reliable machine than the Spirit of St. Louis, but Lindbergh was a magnificent aviator. The pilots of the Eighth flew their bombers across the same ocean with only a few months of flight training, relying on the reports of radio operators who had trouble translating dots and dashes and on the guidance of navigators who had an insecure grasp of their complex art. Soaring off the coast of Maine, fliers from heartland towns looked down on the first ocean they had ever seen. Their destination was Prestwick, Scotland, the eastern terminus of what was called the “great circle” route. Their “stepping-stones” were four large landmasses: Newfoundland, Labrador, Greenland, and Iceland. Although later groups flew nonstop to Scotland—a distance of some 2,000 miles—the first groups would find these stations indispensable, for they flew through some of the foulest weather on earth.

On the first leg of the crossing, airmen headed for one of two possible destinations: Goose Bay, Labrador, or Gander Lake in southern Newfoundland, both about 700 miles from the northern coast of Maine. Next was a perilous 700-to-1,000-mile over-water run to one of the two bases on Greenland that the United States had recently built, under agreement with Denmark. The first planes of the 97th Bomb Group, led by Paul Tibbets, made it to Greenland with ease. Then the trouble began. Flying over the island’s jagged coastal mountains, Tibbets could see an endless icecap sparkling in the sun. This was his warning that he was approaching Bluie West One, one of the most dangerous landing fields anywhere. Tibbets maneuvered his bomber into a precariously narrow fjord, twenty miles long, flanked by high, serrated cliffs, which were just off his wing-tips. There were, he remembered, “several tricky turns. A number of canyons branched off from the main fjord, and I had to watch our map closely to avoid following one of them. . . . to a dead end with no way of escape.”

When a pilot entered the fjord, he had to know what the weather was at the airfield at the end of it. There was no room to turn around, and no B-17 could climb fast enough to avoid crashing into the immense wall of stone and ice just behind the landing strip. The weather was high and clear, and Tibbets brought in his bomber flawlessly. But later American airmen would crash and burn when fog or rapidly moving storms closed in on them.

BW-1 was a forbidding place, just south of the Arctic Circle. There was a mess hall, a weather shack, a scattering of drafty huts for sleeping, and across the fjord, an isolated Eskimo village. There was no temptation to linger there. After refueling, Tibbets flew to Iceland and then on to Prestwick, 846 miles to the east. A Royal Air Force navigator met his squadron there and guided the bombers to Polebrook, where they landed on a runway that had recently been a potato patch. When the last plane of the 97th touched down weeks later, Tibbets learned how fortunate his Group had been. They had lost five aircraft, but not a single man. “These youthful crews and their aircraft proved that they had what it takes to win a war,” Tibbets wrote later.

Gen. Carl Spaatz had arrived in England a month earlier in a B-24 Liberator, and had already set up his headquarters in Bushy Park, close to London and the headquarters of the new commander of the European Theater of Operations, Maj. Gen. Dwight David Eisenhower. With the arrival of the 97th, the Eighth Air Force was ready to go to war.

It was made up of four commands. In addition to the Bomber and Fighter Commands, there was the Ground-Air Support Command, to be equipped, a year later, with twin-engine B-26 Marauder bombers, and the Air Service Command, responsible for supply and maintenance. Gen. Frank “Monk” Hunter set up Fighter Command headquarters at Bushey Hall, a country mansion in Hertfordshire, on the outskirts of northwest London, close to RAF Fighter Command. By August there would be four American fighter groups in the U.K., two of them flying British Spitfires and two flying American P-38 Lightnings.

For the planning and direction of combat operations, the Eighth’s Bomber Command was organized into combat wings. Each wing was comprised of three bomb groups, which met in the skies over their neighboring bases and flew into battle together. Each combat wing, in turn, belonged to one or another larger organization, called, initially, a bombardment wing, and later an air division. These were the equivalent of infantry divisions, big organizations to fight big battles. In 1942, there were only two bombardment wings, the 1st and the 2nd. Each had its own commander and headquarters building, where bombing strikes requiring close coordination were plotted and organized.


ORGANIZATION CHART 8TH AIR FORCE
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This organizational pattern was incomprehensible to most English farm families who resided in ancient places recently designated and renamed for wartime purposes. These tradition-bound local folk would soon have the young American fliers ignoring military terminology and calling their bomber stations, not by their Air Force numbers, but by the names of the ancient hamlets the new airfields were built near: Seething and Snetterton Heath, Wendling and Wattisham, Alconbury and Attlebridge, Thorpe Abbotts and Thurleigh.

The vast majority of American GIs who began pouring into England in the late summer of 1942 came to train for the invasion. The airmen would begin their battle at once. But as the crews of the 97th Bomb Group prepared for their first mission there occurred a major change in Allied war strategy. On July 1, the day the first B-17 manned by an American combat crew touched down in Great Britain, the German army won an electrifying victory, breaking the 245-day-long siege of the mighty naval base of Sevastopol, the final Russian stronghold in the Crimea. Ten days earlier Rommel had overrun the besieged British garrison at Tobruk, in Libya, near the Egyptian border. This double victory gave the Germans an enormous injection of confidence, while in Washington, Winston Churchill privately confessed that he was the most miserable Englishman in America since General Burgoyne had surrendered at Saratoga.

Churchill was at the White House to try to engineer a major change in Allied war policy. He wanted to get American troops and bombers into the fight as soon as possible in order to restore Allied morale, relieve pressure on the Russians, and reinforce Britain’s beleaguered desert army in North Africa. The previous April, he had reluctantly agreed to an American plan for an Allied invasion of northern France in the spring of 1943. Now he was using his famous persuasive powers to try to get Roosevelt to postpone that invasion. Recalling Dunkirk, he spoke to the president of “a Channel full of the bodies of British soldiers.”

The strategy worked. That July, Roosevelt agreed to an Allied landing in French North Africa, a controversial and hotly contested change in policy. It meant postponing indefinitely a cross-Channel invasion of Nazi-occupied France, the “second front” that Joseph Stalin was impatiently demanding. George Marshall and his protégé, Dwight Eisenhower, the untested general Roosevelt picked to command Operation Torch, as the North African campaign was code-named, bitterly opposed the plan, but Churchill was right. An adequate invasion fleet had not yet been built; German U-boats were inflicting heavy damage on Atlantic convoys; and the Luftwaffe owned the skies over Northern Europe. For Roosevelt, there were also political considerations. With congressional elections approaching in November, he was under pressure to get American ground forces into action against the Germans. And North Africa, with British assistance, was the only place the still mobilizing Americans were strong enough to take on the fearsome German war machine.

Arnold was furious. As part of the invasion plan, he was ordered to strip the fledgling Eighth to support upcoming operations in the Mediterranean, and he was not yet authorized to tell Spaatz and Eaker of these changes. The 97th and the 301st, which had just arrived in England, were to be reassigned in the early fall to North Africa, and other bombers were to be sent there directly from training bases in the States. This meant that the Air Force plan to have a thousand heavy bombers over Germany by April 1943 would have to wait—how long, Arnold did not know.

It was more than a matter of delay. Arnold saw Operation Torch as a threat to the very existence of the Eighth Air Force. Before it was completed, the depleted Eighth might be absorbed into the Royal Air Force’s night campaign.

This is the reason Arnold pressured Spaatz and Eaker to get their crews into combat before they were properly trained. The weeks prior to the November invasion of North Africa might be the American Air Force’s only opportunity in the war to prove its doctrine of daylight strategic bombing. When informed after the Rouen mission of Operation Torch, Eaker and Spaatz also became convinced that the future of Air Force operations in Europe “rode upon the outcome” of the next dozen or so missions.

“We didn’t know quite how we were going to make that offensive work at first,” Arnold admitted later. “All we knew was that we would make it work.” But Eaker and Spaatz had faith in their planes, faith in their crews, and above all, faith in the doctrine of strategic bombing. So in the late summer of the third year of the war, from small airfields in England, American boys flew into danger to test an idea about airpower that went back to the time when Billy Mitchell soared over the trenches in a flimsy two-winger built of fiber and wood.



CHAPTER THREE




The Dangerous Sky

Those who flew in late 1942 and early 1943 fought a very different war from those who came later.

RUSSELL STRONG, First over Germany

Polebrook, September 6, 1942

The target was an aircraft factory in northern France, with Paul Tibbets again leading the Eighth. There had been no losses up to now but today the Luftwaffe would be out in force. “On September 6,” wrote Eighth Air Force commander Budd Peaslee, “the Americans got their first taste of air war as it was to be.”

Göring’s fighters waited until the bombers began returning from their targets, then tore past the Spitfire escorts and swarmed on them like a nest of angry hornets. Two Forts, one of them piloted by Tibbets’s friend, Lt. Paul Lipsky, erupted in flames and sank sickeningly out of sight, disintegrating piece by fiery piece as they dropped through the empty air. “He was a wonderful kid,” Tibbets wrote later, “and his death shook me up. Up to now, the war was a game to us; we took off, dropped our bombs, and always returned safely. We thought we were supermen and that we were beating the odds with our skill in the sky. That was how stupidly inflated our confidence was until we watched Paul’s plane spin out of control, [and] burst into a ball of flame.” In Tibbets’s plane, no one said a word on the interphone. Everyone silently pictured himself in Paul’s shoes. “The very next mission we nearly made that same dive to eternity,” Tibbets recalled. “It was . . . the most frightening brush with death that I was to experience in all my wartime missions over Germany, Africa, and the Pacific.”

Messerschmitt Bf 109s (Me 109s), the most numerous fighter plane in the Luftwaffe air defense fleet, jumped on Tibbets’s formation as soon as it completed its bomb run. “The guns from all our planes were spitting fire like mad as the enemy planes dived at us from three directions, ripping holes in the wings and fuselages of our B17s.” Just as the worst seemed over, an enemy interceptor came straight out of the sun at Tibbets’s bomber. A cannon shell smashed through the cockpit’s right-hand window and part of the instrument panel disappeared. “At that moment, I felt the sting of flying metal, several fragments imbedding themselves in my right side,” Tibbets recalled.

The co-pilot, Lt. Gene Lockhart, took the brunt of the hit. Part of his right hand was blown off and blood sprayed all over the shattered cabin. Tibbets, lean and hard-muscled, managed to keep the plane on course while it shuddered and shook from repeated hits. This was when a crew had to be disciplined. Panic erupted, but it came from an unlikely source: Col. Newton D. Longfellow, the new commander of the 2nd Bombardment Wing, who was flying with Tibbets on a combat orientation run. “[Longfellow] had a tough-guy reputation among his subordinates. Half the outfit was scared to death of him,” said Tibbets. “In the frenzied moments that followed, all of the . . . bravado that had struck fear into the hearts of Newt’s subordinates suddenly left him. Reacting with blind frenzy, he reached over my shoulder and grabbed a handful of throttles and turbo controls, sapping the power of our engines at 25,000 feet.

“There was chaos in the cabin. I was trying to fly the plane with one hand and keep Lockhart from bleeding to death with the other. While he held his shattered hand above his head, I grasped his wrist tightly with my right hand and tried to maintain level flight at the same time.”

Tibbets shouted at Longfellow to get his hands off the controls, but with freezing air tearing through a hole in the instrument panel, Longfellow failed to hear him. Tibbets then gave him a “backhand shot” to the chin with his left elbow, knocking him out. Seconds later, a machine gun bullet creased the skull of one of the gunners, who fell in a heap on Longfellow. When Longfellow regained consciousness, he grabbed a first aid kit, put a tourniquet on Lockhart’s hand, and bandaged the head of the unconscious turret gunner.

Tibbets regained control of the plane, and with Longfellow as his co-pilot, brought it home. Longfellow turned to Tibbets as they climbed out of the battered bomber. “Paul, you did the right thing.”

The two badly injured men recovered and, along with Tibbets, received the Purple Heart. Standing beside the heavily bandaged Lockhart at the ceremony, posing for pictures for Life magazine, Tibbets was visibly embarrassed. He had suffered only minor puncture wounds and didn’t have time for “parades and ceremonies,” he had protested to Air Force publicists. That day, he was helping to plan what would be the biggest Eighth Air Force operation up to then.

Lille

On October 9, the Eighth would be flying to Lille, a French steel and rail center that fed Hitler’s expanding war machine. With more bomb groups available, Ira Eaker was finally able to mount a considerable force of 108 heavies, including twenty-four twin-tailed B-24 Liberators from the newly operational 93rd Bomb Group, commanded by Col. Edward J. “Ted” Timberlake, who would become one of the finest air leaders of the war. It would be the B-24’s first combat mission with the Eighth. Over 400 fighters were dispatched to cover the bombers. Among them were three dozen P-38 Lightnings and an equal number of Spitfires flown by pilots of the famed Eagle Squadrons, air groups made up of Americans who had joined the Royal Air Force before Pearl Harbor and had recently been absorbed into the Eighth’s nascent Fighter Command as the 4th Fighter Group.

Lille was Lt. J. Kemp McLaughlin’s maiden mission. A twenty-three-year-old graduate of West Virginia University, he was a product of the Great Depression. This was his first steady job and it was for a cause he cared for: he was being paid $250 a month, plus $90 flight pay, to help bring down the most dangerous man in the world. As he and his crewmates from the 92nd Bomb Group, a Fortress outfit that had just arrived in England, filed into the briefing room at Bovingdon aerodrome on this raw October morning, McLaughlin noticed that he was wasn’t the only one who was nervous; everyone looked pale and drawn. Some men let out groans when the commanding officer, Col. James S. Sutton, warned them to expect an ugly reception from the Luftwaffe.

Then Maj. Gardiner “Gordy” Fiske, the group’s chief intelligence officer, briefed the crews on expected enemy opposition. Fiske was from a top-tier Boston family and had been a member of the famed Lafayette Escadrille in the last war. He had reenlisted in the Air Force after Pearl Harbor with little knowledge of how far military aviation had progressed since he had fought over the trenches in his twin-winged fighter. When he completed his briefing, a flier asked him about antiaircraft defenses along the French coast. “He looked puzzled,” recalled McLaughlin, “and finally said, ‘Well, there weren’t any there when I was there in World War I.’ ” At that point, Colonel Sutton jumped out of his seat and shouted, “ ‘Gordy, for God’s sake, sit down!’ ” Only a few men laughed.
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